

Diversity of rhizobial Methylobacterium species associated with indigenous

legumes in South Africa

by

Sanele B. Moyana

Submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree

Master of Science

In the Faculty of Natural & Agricultural Science

University of Pretoria

Supervisor: Prof S.N Venter

Co-supervisor: Prof E.T Steenkamp

Co-supervisor: Dr E.K Muema

December 2019

DECLARATION

I, **Sanele Moyana** declare that the thesis/dissertation, which I hereby submit for the degree of *Magister Scientiae* (Microbiology) at the University of Pretoria, is my own work and has not previously been submitted by me for a degree at this or any other tertiary institution.

SIGNATURE: DATE:

This dissertation is dedicated to my late Father President Z. Moyana, who throughout his lifetime etched in the walls of my heart the importance of education, and to my Mother Thembakazi V. Moyana. Thank you for your unwavering support.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank, the good God Almighty for giving me strength to start and finish this work, and His ever-sufficient Grace that has brought me this far.

My appreciation goes to my supervisors Prof Venter and Prof Steenkamp for allowing me the opportunity to be under their supervision, their guidance, and endless patience has made all the difference. I am also grateful for my mentor Dr Muema's motivation. She has been a great teacher and a mentor throughout the duration of this work. I also deeply appreciate the National Research Foundation bursary, and Centre of Exellence in Tree Health Biotechnology (CTHB) Work study bursary, I received as financial support for the duration of this degree, it helped a lot.

The University of Pretoria, the Department of Biochemistry, Genetics and Microbiology, and FABI for lending me their facilities to carry out this study. To my wonderful colleagues (Lab 9-35) and friends: Lab 9-37 and Tlangelani, my gratitude is boundless for all the good times we shared and for always lending a helping hand during some difficult aspects of my laboratory work.

Special thanks to my family for supporting and believing in me during the course of my project, your love and support kept me going. I am forever grateful to have such wonderful people in my corner who are always ready to motivate me when things go south.

SUMMARY

The genus Methylobacterium includes a variety of pink pigmented and cream white facultatively methylotrophic bacteria that are characterized by their ability to mainly utilize methanol as a carbon source. Methylobacterium includes only one known nitrogen fixing species (Methylobacterium nodulans), which was initially isolated from root nodules of the legume Crotalaria podocarpa, in Senegal. Additional Methylobacterium strains able to fix atmospheric nitrogen with members of Crotalaria and Listia legumes native to Southern Africa have since been isolated. The aim of this study thus was to investigate the taxonomic position and delineate the diversity of Methylobacterium isolates associated with Crotalaria and *Listia* species native to South Africa. This was achieved by employing housekeeping gene phylogenies and various phenotypic tests. Of the original 92 isolates investigated, 29 belonged to the genus Methylobacterium. Aligned sequences from the isolates, together with reference and outgroup sequences obtained from the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) database, were used for constructing phylogenetic trees. To confirm the phylogenetic results, phenotypic characterization tests were conducted. The phylogenetic analyses of the housekeeping genes of the *Methylobacterium* isolates grouped them into two clusters (A and B). Group A isolates were closely related to M. nodulans, while Group B formed a different cluster, grouping with a well-known Methylobacterium strain 4-46. From the results, it was clear that only isolates obtained from Crotalaria clustered in Group A with *M. nodulans*, whereas all *Listia* isolates and two *Crotalaria* isolates clustered in Group B. Results from this study showed that single phylogenies of 16S rRNA, recA and rpoB best delineated Methylobacterium isolates. Carbon utilization tests did not provide results that could be used for the separation of the Methylobacterium isolates according to the two assigned groups.

Table of Contents	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
SUMMARY	iv
List of figures	vii
List of tables	viii
PREFACE	ix
1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1. Aim	3
1.2. Objectives	3
2. NITROGEN FIXATION	4
2.1. The legume-rhizobium symbiosis	4
2.2. Diversity and specificity of legume-rhizobia interactions	4
2.3. Rhizobia classification	5
2.3.1. The taxonomy of rhizobia	5
2.3.2. Proteobacteria	5
2.3.3. Alpha-proteobacteria	6
2.3.4. Beta-proteobacteria	7
a. The genus <i>Rhizobium</i>	8
b. The genus Mesorhizobium	8
c. The genera Ensifer and Sinorhizobium	8
d. The genus <i>Bradyrhizobium</i>	9
2.4. Species of <i>Methylobacterium</i>	
2.5. Methylobacterium habitat and association with plants	
2.6 The role of methylotrophy in plant colonization	
2.7. Methods used in describing <i>Methylobacterium</i> species	
2.7.1. DNA-DNA Hybridization (DDH)	
2.7.2. Average nucleotide identity (ANI)	13
2.7.3. MALDI-TOF/MS	13
2.7.4. Phenotypic characterization methods	14
a. Carbon source utilization	14
b. Temperature, salt and pH tests	15
2.7.5. Multilocus Sequence Analysis (MLSA)	
3. MATERIALS AND METHODS	
3.1. Bacterial isolates	
3.2. Maintenance of bacteria	
3.3. Molecular identification of the bacterial strains	

3.3.1	1. DNA extraction	17
3.3.2	2. Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) amplification conditions	18
3.3.3	3. Amplicon purification and sequencing	19
3.4.	Sequence analysis and alignment, and Phylogenetic analysis	19
3.5.	Phenotypic characterization	20
3.5.1	1. Carbon utilization tests using the Biolog (GN2) method	20
4.	RESULTS	22
4.1.	Isolation of bacterial cultures	22
4.2.	Identification of bacterial isolates using 16S rRNA phylogenetic analysis	22
4.3. anal	Identification of <i>Methylobacterium</i> isolates using <i>rpoB</i> , <i>recA</i> and <i>atpD</i> genes plyses	hylogenetic 23
4.4.	ANI analyses	24
4.5.	Phenotypic characterization of <i>Methylobacterium</i> isolates	25
4.5.1	1. Utilization of different carbon sources	25
4.5.2	2. Growth responses to temperature, pH and NaCl concentrations	25
5.	DISCUSSION	27
5.1.	Phylogenetics of <i>Methylobacterium</i> strains in South Africa	27
5.2.	Phenotypic characterization of <i>Methylobacterium</i> strains in South Africa	29
6.	CONCLUSIONS	32
7.	RECOMMENDATIONS	33
8.	REFERENCES	34
Арр	pendices	55

List of figures

Figure 2.1: Rhizobium - legume symbiosis model
Figure 2.2: The relationship between a bacterial cell of a diazotroph and a nodulating plant
cell during nitrogen fixation56
Figure 2.3: Simplified 16S rRNA based neighbour-joining phylogenetic tree, using type
strain sequences of the genera proteobacteria
Figurer 2.4: How carbon is converted in Methylobacterium when methylotrophic growth
occurs
Figure 4.1: 16S rRNA Maximum-likelihood phylogenetic tree
Figure 4.2: The maximum-likelihood tree based on <i>rpoB</i> amino acyl sequences60
Figure 4.3: The maximum-likelihood tree based on <i>recA</i> amino acyl sequences61
Figure 4.4: The maximum-likelihood tree based on <i>atpD</i> amino acyl sequences62
Figure 4.5: Multilocus Sequence Analysis/Concatenated phylogenetic tree consisting of the
genes 16S rRNA, <i>atpD</i> , <i>recA</i> , and <i>rpoB</i> data sequences63
Figure 4.6: Multilocus Sequence Analysis/Concatenated phylogenetic tree made up of 16S
rRNA, <i>recA</i> , and <i>rpoB</i> data sequences64

List of tables

Table 2.1: The presently defined nodulating rhizobia and the number of species each genus
contains
Table 2.2: Validly published Methylobacterium species
Table 3.1: Bacterial culture isolates used in this study
Table 3.2: PCR Primers used to amplify genes in this study71
Table 3.3: List of species and strains (with their Genbank references) included in this
study71
Table 4.1: The 16S rRNA representative results from Blastn searches of NCBI72
Table 4.2: Pairwise comparisons of genomic Average Nucleotide Identity (ANI)75
Table 4.3: Temperature test results using Yeast mannitol agar
Table 4.4: Temperature test results using R2A agar
Table 4.5: pH test results using yeast mannitol broth
Table 4.6: pH test results using R2A broth
Table 4.7: Salt (NaCl) tolerance test results using YMA
Table 4.8: NaCl tolerance test using R2A agar
Table 4.9: Utilization of carbon compounds by the Methylobacterium representative
isolates

PREFACE

Various members of the plant family Leguminosae are characterized by the ability to associate with certain nitrogen fixing gram negative soil bacteria. These diazotrophic bacteria (referred to as rhizobia) belong to a diverse group of Alpha-proteobacteria and Beta-proteobacteria (Chen *et al.*, 2003). Most known nitrogen-fixing rhizobia belong to different genera within the Alpha-proteobacteria. In 1976, the genus *Methylobacterium* was proposed to house the strictly aerobic, gram negative, pink pigmented and facultatively methylotrophic bacteria which formed part of the Alpha-proteobacteria. Interactions amongst plants and *Methylobacterium* strains are varied as some associate with epiphytes, others with endophytes, while others interact with legumes as nitrogen fixing microsymbionts (Omer *et al.*, 2004). Bacteria from this genus have been shown to be broadly distributed throughout most environments. The first species to be described belonging to this genus was *Methylobacterium organophilum*. To date, this genus is known to only contain a single symbiotic species, namely *M. nodulans*, which was isolated from root nodules of the legume *Crotalaria podocarpa* (Sy *et al.*, 2001).

The work presented in this dissertation is focused on the rhizobial species of *Methylobacterium* that are associated with the indigenous legumes *Crotalaria* and *Listia*. *Crotalaria* species typically forms two categories of associations, first with the slow growing rhizobia said to be related to *Bradyrhizobium*, and secondly, fast growing rhizobial strains which were later identified and classified as *M. nodulans*. During further studies, a distinctive group of *Methylobacterium* strains was isolated from a diverse group of *Listia* species in Southern Africa, which adds on to the focus of this study. However, not much work has been conducted to further investigate the taxonomic standing of *Methylobacterium* strains isolated from *Listia*.

Section **one** and **two** of this dissertation covers the background information and review of the current literature, which focuses on the taxonomy of the Alpha- and Beta- rhizobia. Section **two** also covers the legume-rhizobium symbiosis interaction and genes involved in nodulation and nitrogen fixation. These sections also cover promiscuity and specificity of rhizobia and/or legumes. Finally, the second section concludes with a review of *Methylobacterium* species in terms of their habitats, associations with plants and further reviews the methods used to describe *Methylobacterium* species.

In Section **three** of this dissertation, methods that helped achieve the aim and objectives of the study are discussed in detail. Details regarding the origin of all the cultures used in this study are provided. In addition, details regarding the isolation and culturing of bacteria, as well as the protocols followed to describe and further characterize these bacteria are also laid out and explained in detail.

In Section **four**, the results of the study, aimed at investigating the taxonomic position of *Methylobacterium* isolates associated with *Crotalaria* and *Listia*, are described in detail. The phylogenetic analysis of the four hose-keeping genes (i.e. 16S rRNA, *atpD*, *recA* and *rpoB*) used to identify and delineate *Methylobacterium* isolates separated *Methylobacterium* isolates into two groups, A and B. The phenotypic tests used to study and investigate the taxonomic position of *Methylobacterium* isolates showed the influence on their growth by temperature, pH and NaCl, irrespective of the host or growth media, while carbon utilization tests did not provide reliable results regarding *Methylobacterium* host influence.

Section **five** forms the discussion of the findings of this study. Overall, single gene phylogenies of 16S rRNA, *recA* and *rpoB* best delineated *Methylobacterium* isolates mainly relating them with the known and available genome reference strains of *Methylobacterium nodulans* and *Methylobacterium* sp. 4-46. The section also discusses how the isolates separated according to their different host legumes i.e., *Crotalaria* and *Listia*, although the grouping of two of the *Crotalaria* isolates (SA531a and SA531c) with *Listia* isolates was not expected. The section further discusses the possible reasons for this outcome.

1. INTRODUCTION

Bacteria capable of fixing atmospheric nitrogen when symbiotically associated with plants, more specifically legumes, are referred to as rhizobia. The interactions between the rhizobia and their plant hosts have been studied in detail. Under nitrogen limiting soil conditions, host legume plants release signal flavonoids into the rhizosphere. Rhizobia present in the rhizosphere sense these compounds and will activate the expression of essential nodulation genes to form specific lipochitooligosaccharides known as Nod factors (Oldroyd, 2013). The Nod factors get recognized by the plant and this interaction triggers root hair curling to trap the rhizobia. These are the initial steps commonly required for the formation of specialized nodule structures where the symbiotic association occurs (Madsen *et al.*, 2010; Oldroyd, 2013; Maroti and Kondorosi, 2014). Within nodules, atmospheric nitrogen (N₂) is reduced by the bacteria into ammonium (NH₄⁺), which is made accessible to the host plant. At the same time, the host plant offers protection and access to fixed carbon as energy source to the bacteria (Mus *et al.*, 2016; Remigi *et al.*, 2016).

Taxonomically, rhizobia are classified into various genera in either the Alpha- or Betaproteobacteria. Those from Beta-proteobacteria belong to genera such as *Cupriavides* and *Paraburkholderia* (*Burkholderia sensu lato*). Most nitrogen-fixing rhizobia belong to different genera within the Alpha-proteobacteria such as *Rhizobium*, *Ensifer*, *Mesorhizobium*, *Bradyrhizobium*, *Azorhizobium* and *Allorhizobium* (De Lajudie *et al.*, 1998). Further, within the Alpha-proteobacteria, an additional rhizobial branch, involving bacteria in the genus *Methylobacterium*, was first introduced by Sy *et al.* (2001). According to Ardley *et al.* (2009), interactions among legumes and *Methylobacterium* species are varied. For example, some associate as epiphytes (on plants) like *Methylobacterium phyllostachyos* (Omer *et al.*, 2004), others as endophytes (inside plants) (e.g., *Methylobacterium pseudosasicola*) (Van Aken *et al.*, 2004), and yet others interact with plants as nitrogen fixing symbionts (e.g. *Methylobacterium nodulans*) (Sy *et al.*, 2001; Jaftha *et al.*, 2002; Yates *et al.*, 2007).

Methylobacterium strains are mainly categorized by their capability to grow at the expense of reduced carbon compounds containing one or more carbon atom but containing no carbon-carbon bonds (Lidstrom, 2006). Such substrates include methanol, methane, methylated amines, methylated sulfur and galogenated methane, as well as different substrates that use

multi-carbon compounds like acetate, ethanol and ethylamine (Lidstrom, 2006). *M. nodulans*, first isolated from the legume *Crotalaria podocarpa* in Senegal, was found to possess the *mxaF* gene that codes for methanol dehydrogenase (MDH) (Sy *et al.*, 2001). Disrupting the *mxaF* gene via insertional mutagenesis negatively affected plant growth. The methylotrophic-minus mutants were linked to a drastic reduction in nodule number and plant biomass (Jourand *et al.*, 2005). As a result, the capability to utilize methanol was thought to be advantageous to *M. nodulans* for nodulation (Ardley *et al.*, 2009).

The discovery of symbiotic nitrogen fixing *Methylobacterium* species was triggered by the observation of specific symbiotic associations between rhizobia and different *Crotolaria* species in Senegal (Samba *et al.*, 1999). *Crotalaria* species formed two types of associations, where the first was associated with fast growing rhizobia while the second was linked to slow growing rhizobia (Samba *et al.*, 1999). At the time, the strains nodulated by the slow growing rhizobia were related to *Bradyrhizobium japonicum*, while the fast growing rhizobial strains were not related to any known species (Samba *et al.*, 1999). The fast growing rhizobial strains were isolated from *Crotalaria glaucoides, C. perrottetii*, and *C. podocarpa*, and were eventually identified and classified as *Methylobacterium nodulans* (Jourand *et al.*, 2005).

As molecular biology technologies have advanced, and interest in nitrogen fixation characteristics of *Methylobacterium* species grown, phylogenetic approaches based on the 16S rRNA and *mxaF* genes have been applied to further identify and classify *Methylobacterium* isolates from different legume hosts (Jaftha *et al.*, 2002; Jourand *et al.*, 2004; Yates *et al.*, 2007; Ardley *et al.*, 2009). The *nodA* and *nifH* genes have also been utilized, although genes which form part of the accessory genomes could be influenced by horizontal gene transfer (HGT) (Jourand *et al.*, 2004).

During these additional studies, a distinct group of *Methylobacterium* strains was isolated from a diverse group of *Listia* species in South Africa, which included *L. angolensis, L. bainesii, L. listii,* and *L. solitudinis* (Jaftha *et al.*, 2002; Yates *et al.*, 2007). These isolates were closely linked to *Methylobacterium nodulans* (Yates *et al.*, 2007). Nevertheless, cross inoculation studies revealed that *M. nodulans* does not nodulate *Listia* species (Yates *et al.*, 2007). *Listia* species were nodulated by pigmented *Methylobacterium* strains (Ardley *et al.*, 2013) as opposed to *M. nodulans* which is specific to *Crotalaria* species. In addition, the *Methylobacterium* strains that nodulated with *Listia* did not have the *mxaF* gene, which was present in *M. nodulans* and were therefore unable to use methanol as their single carbon source (Ardley *et al.*, 2009). Taken together, there is limited knowledge of the diversity and distribution of *Methylobacterium* species associated with different legume species in South Africa. Therefore, the aim of this study was to utilize a set of housekeeping genes (i.e. 16S rRNA, *rpoB*, *recA* and *atpD*) and phenotypic characterization to study the diversity and distribution of several potentially new *Methylobacterium* species associated with *Crotalaria* and *Listia* species from different regions in South Africa.

1.1. Aim

To investigate the diversity of *Methylobacterium* rhizobial isolates associated with indigenous legumes in South Africa.

1.2. Objectives

• To investigate the taxonomic position of *Methylobacterium* isolates associated with *Crotalaria* and *Listia* hosts.

• To sequence housekeeping genes encoding 16S rRNA, ATP synthase beta subunit (*atpD*), DNA recombination and repair protein (*recA*) and RNA polymerase beta subunit (*rpoB*).

• To compare single gene phylogenies to identify consistent groups in order to delineate putative new species.

• Phenotypic characterization of the strains.

2. NITROGEN FIXATION

2.1. The legume-rhizobium symbiosis

The legume-rhizobium symbiosis involves a complex, but interesting, biochemical process that is carried out in an association between the plant host and the bacterial symbiont (Verma, and Long, 1983; Rolfe and Gresshoff, 1988; Long, 1989; Brewin, 1991; Fisher and Long, 1992; Long and Staskawicz, 1993) (Figure 2.1). In nitrogen limiting soil conditions, host legume plants release signal flavonoids (Figure 2.1) into the rhizosphere. The rhizosphere bacteria sense and activate the expression of essential nodulation genes to produce specific lipochitooligosaccharides known as Nod factors. The Nod factors play a crucial part in legume-rhizobium specificity (Spaink, 2000). Nod factors are recognized by the host plant, and this interaction initiates the first step in nodule formation by triggering root hair curling to trap the rhizobia and start the subsequent formation of the infection thread into the root hair (Verma and Long, 1983). Nod factors also trigger cortical cell division in the plant primordium to form a nodule. The bacteria move via the infection thread and then enter the nodule (Spaink, 2000). The rhizobia inside the infected nodule cells are surrounded by the plant plasma membrane which develops to form symbiosomes (unique structures that fix atmospheric nitrogen) (Emerich and Krishnan, 2014). Eventually, the symbiosomes, upon maturity, allow the rhizobia to switch to their bacteroid nitrogen-fixing form.

Within root nodules, inorganic forms of atmospheric nitrogen (ammonium and nitrates) are produced by bacteria, and form part of the earth's food webs through utilization by the legume plant (Emerich and Krishnan, 2014). The bacterial nitrogenase enzyme reduce atmospheric nitrogen into ammonia and eventually amino acids that in turn gets transported through the plant (Lindström *et al.*, 2002; Emerich and Krishnan, 2014; Gnat *et al.*, 2015) (Figure 2.2). In response, bacterial symbionts gain carbohydrates in the form of malate and succinate from the legumes (Emerich and Krishnan, 2014).

2.2. Diversity and specificity of legume-rhizobia interactions

Most of the biosphere's available nitrogen supporting plant nutrition is accounted for by the legume-rhizobium symbiosis (Oldroyd and Downie, 2008). Rhizobia are polyphyletic and represent a varied collection of bacteria from both Alpha-proteobacteria (e.g., genera *Rhizobium, Bradyrhizobium, Mesorhizobium, Ensifer* and *Methylobacterium*) and Beta-proteobacteria (e.g., genera *Paraburkholderia* and *Cupriavidus*) (Gyaneshwar *et al.* 2011; Gnat *et al.*, 2015). Such diversity is partly explained by the fact that the nodulation (*nod*)

genes are often found on symbiotic plasmids (Rogel *et al.* 2001). Symbiotic plasmids are extremely portable genetic elements that can be exchanged through HGT between rhizobial species of different genera (Ding and Hynes, 2009).

Rhizobium-legume host specificity has been reported for host plants such as *Galega* offcinalis (tribe Galegeae) which nodulate with *R. galegae* (Andronov *et al.*, 2003). *Methylobacterium* species are also thought to have host plant specificity, i.e., between *Crotalaria* and *Listia/Lotononis* species (Ardley *et al.*, 2009). Modifications of Nod factors (i.e., length and acyl group concentration) are known to determine host specificity (Zhang *et al.*, 2012). These unique partnerships amongst rhizobia and legumes were established over evolutionary time and have had a physiological adaptation effects that is linked to legumes becoming successful invasive species in various areas in the world such as those belonging to the sub-family Mimosoideae (Parker, 2001; Rodríguez-Echeverría *et al.*, 2014). In contrast, promiscuity either in host plants or rhizobial symbionts also exists. For example, members in the genera *Ensifer*, *Rhizobium* as well as *Bradyrhizobium* are nonselective as they nodulate a diverse range of legumes (van Rhijn *et al.*, 2001).

2.3. Rhizobia classification

2.3.1. The taxonomy of rhizobia

Initially, rhizobia were collectively grouped within the single genus *Rhizobium* in the family *Rhizobiaceae* and class Alpha-proteobacteria (Young *et al.*, 2003; Zakhia and de Lajudie, 2001). At first, all rhizobia were assumed to be capable of forming nodules in association with any legume host (Jordan, 1982; Sadowsky *et al.*, Graham, 1991). Later studies, however, indicated that these bacterial strains could only interact with a specific range of legume host plants leading to differentiation of strains based on the specific legumes they nodulate (Young *et al.*, 2003; Willems, 2006; Zakhia and de Lajudie, 2006). Based on current classification methods, the known rhizobia belong to seven bacterial families, represented by 15 genera (Howieson and Dilworth, 2016; Lardi *et al.*, 2017) (Table 1).

2.3.2. Proteobacteria

The Proteobacteria are biologically important since they comprise of bacteria with medical (humans), veterinary (animals), industrial and agricultural potential (plants) pathogens as well as beneficial bacteria (Dreyfus *et al.*, 1988; Balows *et al.*, 1992; Holt *et al.*, 1994; Friedland, 1998; Michod *et al.*, 2008; Martínez-Hidalgo and Hirsch 2017; Smercina *et al.*,

2019). Proteobacterial cells are also viewed as the initial mitochondrial donor and in this way, contributed towards the origin of eukaryotic cells (Gray and Doolittle, 1982; Gray, 1992; Margulis, 1993; Gupta, 2000).

Proteobacteria represents the majority of gram-negative bacteria in prokaryotes (Madigan and Martinko, 2005; Gupta, 2000). This group contains complex phenotypic and physiological attributes like phototrophy, while others are heterotrophs and chemolithotrophs (Stackebrandt, 1992; Stackebrandt et al., 1988; Woese, 1987; Savarzin et al., 1991; Trüper, 1987). Although originally known as the purple bacteria and relatives, this name soon became inappropriate as the purple (photosynthesis) attribute was only found in a few members within the Proteobacteria (Gupta, 2000). As a result, the International Committee for Systematic Bacteriology proposed the name to be changed from 'Purple bacteria and relatives' to 'Proteobacteria' to cater for the diversity of traits within the group (Gupta, 2000; Stackebrandt et al., 1988). Proteobacteria (purple bacteria) was first circumscribed based on similarities of 16S rRNA/rDNA analyses (Woese, 1987; Fox et al., 1980; Woese *et al.*, 1985). This criterion further grouped organisms within Proteobacteria into five classes which include Alpha-, Beta-, Gamma-, Delta- and Epsilon-proteobacteria (Garrity, 2001). Using 16S rRNA, other partial housekeeping gene sequences, full genomes and DNA-rRNA hybridization, new species continue to be added to the Proteobacteria (Gupta *et al.*, 2000).

2.3.3. Alpha-proteobacteria

The members of this bacterial class are highly varied and although they have limited shared characteristics, they share a common ancestor. These bacteria are generally Gram-negative with some being parasitic with no peptidoglycan and therefore gram variable, (Brenner *et al.*, 2005). The 16S rRNA phylogenies show clear separation of the Alpha-proteobacteria from the other Proteobacterial classes (Figure 2.3). Species from several genera within the Alpha-proteobacteria have been found to enter a symbiotic association with legumes (Gnat *et al.*, 2015).

Alpha-proteobacteria have singular genome organisation and intracellular lifestyles which in certain instances lead to a reduction in their genome size, while others have enlarged genomes (Williams *et al.*, 2006). Large genomes are, however, suggested to be essential for existence and competition in the rhizosphere (Young *et al.*, 1996). Within the Alphaproteobacteria, all rhizobial isolates were initially classified into the genus *Rhizobium* which contained both fast and slow growing bacteria. Later, the fast growing and acid producing bacteria were separated from those that were slow growing and produced alkali (Jordan, 1982). The slow growing strains were moved to the novel genus *Bradyrhizobium* (Jordan, 1982; Young *et al.*, 2003). With time, taxonomic methods improved leading to more isolates being moved to other newly established genera (e.g. Azorhizobium, Mesorhizobium, *Rhizobium and Ensifer/Sinorhizobium*) (Gnat *et al.*, 2015). Over the years, this has resulted in a controversy concerning the taxonomic status of some of the genera such as *Rhizobium* and *Agrobacterium* (Farrand *et al.*, 2003; Sahgal and Johri, 2003). The classification of rhizobia (alpha and beta) is guaranteed to remain dynamic and sometimes controversial, due to the relationship they have with non-symbionts, improvements in identification methods, and also because of the changing views on what bacterial species are and how they should be classified (Farrand *et al.*, 2003).

2.3.4. Beta-proteobacteria

In 2001, members of Beta-proteobacteria were reported to be capable of nodulating legumes and fixing atmospheric nitrogen (Moulin *et al.*, 2001). Beta-proteobacteria members are found in the order Burkholderiales, where they were divided into four genera (i.e., *Burkholderia* sensu lato, *Cupriavidus*, *Herbaspirillum* and *Achromobacter*) (Euzeby, 1997; Barret and Parker, 2006; Gnat *et al.*, 2015). Although potential pathogenic *Burkholderia* strains have been reported (e.g., *Burkholderia cepacian*), nodulation and nitrogen fixation ability are mainly associated with the non-pathogenic strains (Sprent *et al.*, 2017). The genus *Burkholderia* was later reclassified, creating five additional genera (i.e., *Burkholderia* sensu stricto, *Robbsia, Paraburkholderia, Caballeronia* and *Cupriavidus*) (Sawana *et al.*, 2014).

The genus *Paraburkholderia*, which accommodated most of the rhizobial species, has since been validly published and now contains 17 of the legumes-nodulating species namely; *P. dilworthii, P. tuberum, P. nodosa, P. sabiae, P. rhynchosiae, P. dipogonis, P. piptadeniae, P. ribeironis, P. sprentiae, P. mimosarum P. caribensis, P. phymatum, P. caballeronis, P. aspalathi, P. phenoliruptrix, P. kirstenboschensis and P. diazotrophica, (Beukes et al., 2017). These nodulating <i>Paraburkholderia* strains have further been proposed to be split into two groups, i.e., those nodulating *Mimosa* and related species within Mimosoideae mainly found in South America (Gyaneshwar et al., 2011; Bournaud et al., 2013). The second group includes those that can nodulate varied papilionoid species of the Cape Floristic

region/Fynbos (De Meyer *et al.*, 2016; Lemaire *et al.*, 2015, 2016). It has been shown that *Mimosa* species are nodulated by Alpha-rhizobia as well, and that the two different rhizobial classes (Alpha and Beta-proteobacteria) can occupy diverse nodules on the same plant in *Mimosa* (Barret and Parker, 2006; Elliot *et al.*, 2009).

a. The genus Rhizobium

The genus *Rhizobium* was proposed for the fast-growing, nodulating, and polyphyletic bacteria (Mousavi *et al.*, 2015). At present *Rhizobium* contains 103 species (<u>http://www.bacterio.net</u>) of which the widest host range species *R. leguminosarum* is the type species. Several species in this genus are nitrogen-fixing and form nodules. There are, however, those within the genus that do not have the capability to nodulate and fix atmospheric nitrogen e.g., *R. selenireducens* (Hunter *et al.*, 2007). Most species belonging to this genus were either isolated from nodules of the leguminous plants or roots of cereals as nitrogen fixing associates (Román-Ponce *et al.*, 2016).

b. The genus Mesorhizobium

Jarvis *et al.* (1997) first described the genus *Mesorhizobium* to include the former *Rhizobium loti, Rhizobium haukii, Rhizobium cicero* and *Rhizobium tianshanense*. Presently, the genus *Mesorhizobium*, contains approximately 43 species of which *M. loti* is the type species (Euzeby, 1997; <u>http://www.bacterio.net</u>). Several isolates nodulating agroforestry legumes (e.g. *Acacia abyssinica, A. senegal, A. tortilis and Sesbania sesban*) were found to belong to the genus *Mesorhizobium* in Ethiopia (Degefu *et al.*, 2011, 2013).

c. The genera Ensifer and Sinorhizobium

The genus *Sinorhizobium* was introduced to house the fast-growing soybean-nodulating species *S. xinjiangensis* and *S. fredii* (Chen *et al.*, 2017; Chen *et al.*, 1988). *Ensifer* on the other hand, was first described to accommodate *Ensifer adhaerens*, a bacterial predator (Casida, 1982) apparently capable of nodulating legumes when it receives symbiotic plasmids from *Rhizobium tropici* (Rogel *et al.*, 2001). The genera *Ensifer* and *Sinorhizobium* have later been suggested to be synonymous and thus all *Sinorhizobium* species have been transferred to *Ensifer* (Willems *et al.*, 2003; Chen *et al.*, 2017). Rhizobial strains isolated from the root nodules of *Astragalus* species were at first classified as belonging to the genera *Rhizobium*, *Mesorhizobium* or *Sinorhizobium* (Yan *et al.*, 2016). Currently, 19 of these species have been published and reclassified into the genus *Ensifer*, including *E. alkalisoli* and *E. meliloti* (Yan *et al.*, 2016; Young, 2003). Only three out of the 19 species (i.e., *E.*

fredii, *E. sojae*, and *E. glycinis*) can form nitrogen fixing root nodules with soybean (Chen *et al.*, 1988; Yan *et al.*, 2016, and Chen *et al.*, 2017).

d. The genus Bradyrhizobium

This genus was first described in 1982 by Jordan. It currently consists of 39 species (including one non-rhizobial species) (<u>http://www.bacterio.net</u>). This genus is known to include all slow-growing, Gram-negative aerobic bacteria (Jordan, 1982). The bacteria within this genus have a generation time between 10 and 12 hours. These rhizobia are rod shaped and use flagellum as a means of mobility, when grown on Yeast Mannitol Agar (YMA). *Bradyrhizobium* colonies are less than 1 mm in diameter (Vincent, 1970). Most *Bradyrhizobium* species establish effective symbiosis with a wide range of agriculturally important legume crops such as soybean, pigeon pea, cow pea and peanuts (Subramanian *et al.*, 2006; Steenkamp *et al.*, 2008; Pule-Meulenberg *et al.*, 2010; Araújo *et al.*, 2017).

e. The genus Methylobacterium

The first strain from the genus *Methylobacterium* to be described was isolated in 1913 by Bassalik. This genus consists of 55 validly published species, including a single nitrogen fixing symbiont (Jourand *et al.*, 2004). Species of *Methylobacterium* are identified by their ability to grow on methanol as a carbon source (Jourand, 2004). They are strictly aerobic, Gram-negative bacteria which catalyse methanol oxidation (Van Dien *et al.*, 2003; Jourand *et al.*, 2004). Many isolates have pink pigmentation owing to the existence of carotenoids (Van Dien *et al.*, 2003). These species grow at moderate temperatures (mesophilic), typically ranging from 25°C to 30°C.

The first non-pigmented nitrogen fixer *Methylobacterium* was initially isolated from *Crotalaria podocarpa* in Senegal where these isolates were asigned to a novel species, *Methylobacterium nodulans* (Sy *et al.*, 2001; Jourand *et al.*, 2004). Additional *Methylobacterium* strains that have a pink pigmentation have always been found in root nodules of *Listia* spp. (Jaftha *et al.*, 2002; Yates *et al.*, 2007). These *Listia* associated strains are specific to their host (Yates *et al.*, 2007) but their taxonomy has not yet fully been resolved. They are characterized by rod shaped and Gram-negative cells (Yates *et al.*, 2007). They can aerobically utilize single carbon compounds (C1) and other multi-carbon compounds as substrates, a process known as methylotrophy (Patt *et al.*, 1976).

2.4. Species of Methylobacterium

The interest to investigate and study the pink pigmented facultative methylotrophs (PPFMs) began between 1960 and 1970 due to the important impact they had on biotechnology through their involvement in the assimilation of single-carbon compounds. The first *Methylobacterium* strain to be found with methylotrophy ability was *M. organophilum*. However, after a thorough investigation concerning its physiology, morphology, and biochemical characteristics, it now falls under the *Methylobacterium* strains that cannot exploit methane as a single source of carbon (Green and Bousfield, 1981: Green and Bousfield, 1982). *M. organophilum* so far remains the only PPFM bacterium to have been reported at some point to grow on methane.

A later investigation at the National Collection of Industrial Bacteria and the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC) showed that neither of *Methylobacterium* strains were able to show growth on methane (Green and Bouslfield, 1983). Several failed attemps were made to demonstrate methane utilization for this strain. It was then proposed that its ability to integrate methane possibly was plasmid-borne and might have vanished due to the culture not being maintained in an organic medium under methane-containing atmosphere (Green, 1999). Consequently, the *Methylobacterium* description was amended to include bacteria that are not capable of utilizing methanol (Green and Bousfield, 1983). It was also suggested that all PPFM bacteria be moved to the genus *Methylobacterium*. These also included *Pseudomonas rhodos, Pseudomonas rodiora,* and *Pseudomonas mesophilica* (Green and Bousfield, 1983; Green and Ardly, 2018). Nucleic acid hybridization and molecular techniques confirmed that the PPFM should form part of the genus *Methylobacterium* but that the *Pseudomonas* strains should be excluded (Wolfrum *et al.*, 1986).

2.5. Methylobacterium habitat and association with plants

The PPFM are firmly facultative and aerobic and use a range of single carbon to multi-carbon substrates. The formerly named and described species of *Methylobacterium* live in diverse environments such as aquatic environments, plants (Green and Bousfield, 1982; Corpe and Rheem, 1989), ice lands (Moosvie *et al.*, 2005) and the Antarctica ice core (Antony *et al.*, 2012). The PPFMs are also found in hospitals (Furuhata and Koike, 1990; Kaneko and Hiraishi, 1991; Furuhata and Koike, 1993), bathrooms (Furuhata and Matsumoto, 1992) and on a human foot (Anesti *et al.*, 2006). Numerous species of *Methylobacterium* are infectious to humans, for example "*Persist bacteremia*" infected a child that had lymphoma (Fernandez

et al., 1977; Lai *et al.*, 2011). *Methylobacterium* species found in clinical surroundings have the capability to thrive under stressful conditions and antimicrobials (Yano *et al.*, 2013; Kovaleva *et al.*, 2014).

Some *Methylobacterium* spp. live in the plant environment (Ivanova *et al.*, 2001). For example, *Methylobacterium mesophilicum* was isolated from a citrus plant by Gai *et al.* (2009) and *Methylobacterium oryzaei* from rice phyllosphere (Yim *et al.*, 2010). The genus *Methylobacterium* is thought to be highly common phyllosphere colonizing bacteria (Knief *et al.*, 2010). The association with plants is, however, varied with some of the *Methylobacterium* being symbionts that nodulate roots of legumes (Sy *et al.*, 2001; Jaftha *et al.*, 2002), others are plant endophytes (Elbeltagy *et al.*, 2000; Pirttilä *et al.*, 2000; Lacava *et al.*, 2004; Van aken *et al.*, 2004), while yet others inhabit the surface of plants (Corpe and Rheem, 1989; Hirano and Upper, 1991; Omer *et al.*, 2004). It is suggested that these associations are long-term (Kutschera and Niklas, 2005; Fedorov *et al.*, 2011) and that the isolates are interdependent phytosymbionts (Kutschera, 2007).

2.6 The role of methylotrophy in plant colonization

Several studies have shown that the ability of *Methylobacterium* to colonize plants is aided by the key role played by the C1 metabolism (Jourand *et al.*, 2005; Sy *et al.*, 2005). Vorholt (2002) identified and characterized the enzymes which are key in methylotrophy. In the study, 46 000 proteins were identified in the phyllosphere which were linked to methylotrophy. Initially, formaldehyde (that is later transferred to the cytoplasm) is formed through the oxidation of methanol inside periplasm by the key enzyme methanol dehydrogenase (MDH). Part of the oxidation product is then broken down into CO_2 to produce energy and the remaining formaldehyde is then assimilated through the serine cycle (Figure 2.4).

The only known and described nodulating *Methylobacterium* to date is *M. nodulans* which possesses mxaF gene cluster for coding MDH. The role of methylotrophy and how it is expressed amongst *M. nodulans* strain OR2060^T and *Crotalaria podocarpa* was investigated by Jourand *et al.*, (2005). It was found that deletion of mxaF gene in *Methylobacterium nodulans* used to inoculate *Crotalaria podocarpa* resulted in a reduction in nodule formation, nitrogen fixation capacity and total biomass by approximately 60%, 42% and 46% respectively. The insertion of a functional mxaF genetic factor to the mutant of *M. nodulans* restored its symbiotic activity.

2.7. Methods used in describing Methylobacterium species

Bacterial species are usually described using already established or standard approaches like DNA-DNA Hybridization (DDH), 16S rRNA gene sequencing, phenotypic characteristics and genome-based criteria like average nucleotide identity (ANI). Until late 1960s, methods used to delineate species and genera were mainly based on observable phenotypic characteristics (Lehmann and Neumann, 1896). The most important development for clarifying species-strain relationship and the breaking down of the species and genera was initiated by introducing DDH methods (Kelly *et al.*, 2014). Today, the most advanced approaches are Multi-locus analysis (MLSA) and Multi-locus sequence typing (MLST) which permit a higher resolution regarding how the population of species is structured. This has led to a more conclusive decision about ecology, evolution, systematics, and epidemiology (Konstantinidis, 2006).

2.7.1. DNA-DNA Hybridization (DDH)

DNA-DNA Hybridization, sometimes referred to as the DNA-DNA reassociation method is grounded on an effort to create unbiased comparisons of whole genomes among diverse organisms to obtain their total identities at genomic level (Rossello-Mora, 2006). The DDH method is widely used in classification of organisms at lower ranks up to species level. The DDH approach was embraced as part of the 'modern spectrum' of techniques which made use of genetic measurements to circumscribe species instead of methods which employed biochemical and morphological characteristics (Goris *et al.*, 2007). The DNA-DNA Hybridization method employs the principle that denatured single DNA strands from organism A and B would duplex if their overall DNA nucleotide compositions were similar and that the two DNAs were isolated from genetically related organisms (Schildkraut *et al.*, 1961; Rossello-Mora, 2006).

There has generally been a universal agreement on the DDH cut-off limit of \geq 70% relatedness for species as well as other conditions like variations in melting temperature within the range of 5 °C or less for species (Schildkraut *et al.*, 1961; Stackenbrandt and Goebel, 1994; Rossello-Mora and Amann, 2001; Rosello-Mora, 2006; Stackenbrandt and Ebers, 2006). As a result, DDH has then been widely used to characterize prokaryote species (Stackebrandt, 2003). This approach, however, is faced with several drawbacks which have necessitated the development of other approaches. These drawbacks include: i) need for high

quantity and quality DNA compared to polymerase chain reaction (PCR) based techniques, ii) it is time consuming and labour intensive, iii) inter and intra laboratory variations while conducting DDH can yield different results and iv) due to the comparative nature of the the technique, no database can be built compared to the sequence based comparative techniques (Stackebrandt, 2003; Gevers *et al.*, 2005; Goris *et al.*, 2007). Consequently, other promising methods to replace DDH like ANI and MLSA were proposed (Stackebrandt *et al.*, 2002; Konstantidis and Tiedje, 2005b).

2.7.2. Average nucleotide identity (ANI)

This method was proposed to determine how the prokaryotic strains are related on a genetic level by directly comparing complete genome sequences (Wayne *et al.*, 1987; Stackebtrandt *et al.*, 2002; Goris *et al.*, 2007). There were at least three conditions to be met: i) "that both advantages and disadvantages balance and justify the employment of whole genome," ii) "the approach should be supported by availability of strong bioinformatic tools and models to analyse and synthesize enormous information contained within the genomes," and iii) "that the ANI approach results should always be comparable and validated using DNA-DNA Hybridization data". For example, the 94% species delineation ANI value corresponded to 70% cut-off value for DDH (Konstantinidis and Tiedje, 2005a; Goris *et al.*, 2007; Rosello-Mora, 2009).

ANI is therefore considered being reliable for delineating archaeal and bacterial species as it is simple to use for the overall description of genetic relatedness between organisms. ANI uses diverse genes within a genome, representing a large dataset compared to the use of a few or a single gene (e.g. 16S rRNA), hence it provides an accurate measure of the level of relatedness between organisms (Konstantinidis and Tiedje, 2005a). The generated ANI results are largely not influenced by rates of evolution such as HGT because the slow evolving genes mitigate the effect of a few genes that evolve at faster rates (Konstantinidis and Tiedje, 2005a). Also, ANI values have been used to distinguish *Methylobacterium indicum* from the related *Methylobacterium platani* (Chaudhry *et al.*, 2016).

2.7.3. MALDI-TOF/MS

Matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry (MALDI-TOF-MS) technology, which profiles all proteins in a cell, has been used for identifying bacteria including *Methylobacterium* (Tani *et al.*, 2012). In MALDI-TOF-MS, the ribosomal proteins are mainly represented by the mass spectral profiles since they are the most abundantly synthesized proteins during all organisms' growth conditions (Jarman *et al.*, 2000). This enables the MALDI-TOF-MS technique to accurately identify and characterize bacteria at different levels (i.e., genus, species, and subspecies) (Welker and Moore, 2011; Tani *et al.*, 2012). The MALDI-TOF-MS technique was used to classify approximately 200 *Methylobacterium* isolates from different environments (Tani *et al.*, 2012). The results were comparable to those from the 16S rRNA sequence analysis.

The MALDI-TOF-MS strategy cannot, however, capture the evolutionary relationships between species. This is because most of the generated spectral peaks from ribosomal translated proteins only show the diversity within species and not their evolution relationships (Tani *et al.*, 2012). Hence, phylogenetic analysis is recommended after utilization of MALDI-TOF-MS in selecting unique strains.

2.7.4. Phenotypic characterization methods

a. Carbon source utilization

Carbon source utilization data is a phenotypic strategy that is used to compare and differentiate taxa or species including members from *Methylobacterium* (Green and Ardley, 2018). The use of carbon substrates reveals physiological characteristics between strains (Antonie van Leewenhoek, 2012; Yang *et al.*, 2012). Some of the carbon sources utilized include aspargine, aspartic acid, alanamide, D-fructose, D-galactonic acid, succinamic acid, saccharic acid, methanol, methyamineand pyruvate (Ardley *et al.*, 2009; Yang *et al.*, 2012).

There has been also development of tool kits like the GN2 Biolog Microplate containing up to 95 varied carbon sources that can be used to test for carbon utilization (Miller and Rhoden, 1991; Holmes *et al.*, 1994). These Microplates employ the reduction of tetrazolium, responding to the respiration process of organisms. The carbon utilization trait is scored positive when a colour is developed as opposed to no colour development (Tang *et al.*, 1989).

The GN2 Microplate method is easier to work with because it does not require additional chemicals to develop the colour. The GN2 Microplate can identify up to 500 species, being the largest kit containing database identification of species compared to other kits (Tang *et al.*, 1989). The Biolog method can be used by a wide range of users including animal, plant, clinical as well as environmental laboratories (Tang *et al.*, 1989). For example, with

reference to 16S rRNA *Methylobacterium* clades, all the species under clade B utilized methylamine and methanol while the majority of the species under clade A (85%) could not (Green and Ardley 2018). Carbon utilization however, experience inter and intra laboratory variability of the results rendering them unreliable (Green *et al.*, 2018). Despite this disadvantage, carbon source utilization methods are still useful phenotypic means for differentiating between PPFM species.

b. Temperature, salt and pH tests

Organisms can be differentiated based on their growth responses under different temperatures, salt concentrations and pH in different growth media (Bochner, 2008). For example, species from genus *Methylobacterium* can grow at temperatures ranging from 18 °C to 42 °C, with optimum temperature range between 25 °C to 30 °C (Weon *et al.*, 2008; Kayash *et al.*, 2014; Park *et al.*, 2018). *Methylobacterium* species are known to thrive under extreme conditions, testing for growth at extreme temperatures and salt concentrations will be additional knowledge.

The ability of bacteria to grow in the presence of variable amounts of sodium chloride (NaCl) has been used to characterize several bacteria (Weon *et al.*, 2008; Schauer and Kutschera, 2011). This is based on the analogy that bacteria must counteract stressful environments to thrive as NaCl is used to mimic such environments. This assumption is applicable for *Methylobacterium* as some are plant-growth promoting species, an activity that may take place in saline environments. Moreover, some *Methylobacterium* have been found to tolerate antimicrobials in clinical fields (Kayasth *et al.*, 2014; Egamberdieva *et al.*, 2015). These traits have led to bacteria including isolates from *Methylobacterium* being tested for salt tolerance using NaCl. Studies have reported the ability of *Methylobacterium* to grow at NaCl concentrations of up to 2% (Weon *et al.*, 2008; Schauer and Kutschera, 2011). However, other *Methylobacterium* species like *M. currus* are only able to grow in 0-1.0% of NaCl, having an optimum salt concentration of 0% (Park *et al.*, 2018).

Another interesting and important factor influencing microbial growth is the pH of the growth medium (Fierer and Jackson, 2006; Jones *et al.*, 2009). Different organisms have variable pH ranges for optimum growth. For example, most rhizobia prefer a neutral pH (Somasegaran and Hoben, 1994). This parameter strongly influences species composition in different environments including the soil (Fierer and Jackson, 2006; Jones *et al.*, 2009; Sofi

et al., 2013). Growth tests at various pH values are simple to conduct as the pH can be adjusted using an acid (HCl) or a base (NaOH) (Ratzke and Gore, 2018). Microbes that can survive at a low pH environment have generally been known to survive under nutrient limited conditions (Yang *et al.*, 2012).

2.7.5. Multilocus Sequence Analysis (MLSA)

Multilocus sequence analysis is currently the most widely used method to study the taxonomy of prokaryotes. This method considers fragments of several protein-coding genes (Gevers et al., 2005). The MLSA helps to resolve phylogenetic and taxonomic relations amongst strains (Gevers et al., 2005; Rong and Huang, 2012). MLSA incorporates the DNA sequences of several housekeeping genes in order to genotypically distinguish between species even across the genus level. In this way, MLSA genotypically differentiates between species even across the genus level (Gevers et al., 2005). For example, an MLSA study on *Ensifer* was conducted using a DNA chaperone (*dnaK*), glutamine synthetase type1 (*glnA*) that is central to nitrogen assimilation, citrate synthase (gltA) that is important in controlling the amount of ATP produced within cells and the 16S rRNA gene (Hernandez-Lucas et al., 2001; Martens et al., 2007; Martens et al., 2008). This method was proposed as ideal for evolution-based studies to accurately investigate the limits between species (Venter et al., 2016). Zeigler (2003) suggested that the efficiency of the MLSA approach might be identical to or even exceed that of DDH when measuring genome similarities. In addition, MLSA takes advantage of the extensive database of reference sequences, which are cheap to use for detailed phylogenetic results compared to other tools. In addition, the housekeeping genes used are protein coding genes which are conservative in nature. Commonly used housekeeping genes in MLSA approach studies include *atpD*, *recA*, *rpoB* and *gyrB* among others (Nishiguchi and Nair, 2003; Gevers et al., 2004; Thompson et al., 2005; Thompson et al., 2007; Tracz et al., 2007; Martens et al., 2008).

Recently, the taxonomy of *Methylobacterium* was investigated using MLSA (Thompson *et al.*, 2005 and Meier-Kolthoff *et al.*, 2013). An MLSA, using standard housekeeping genes (*atpD*, *Dnak*, *gyrB*, *recA*, *rpoB*, *gInI*) in addition to 22 ribosomal protein (RP) genes and phenotypic tests were previously used to describe and reclassify *Methylobacterium* species (Green and Ardley, 2018). The results generally revealed three major clades (A, B, C) (Green and Ardley, 2018). Green and Ardley (2018), however, mainly considered reference strains earlier studied, with a few new *Methylobacterium* strains. The current study, therefore, aimed

to increase knowledge of *Methylobacterium* species, by using MLSA, ANI and phenotypic techniques to describe several potential new *Methylobacterium* species from different regions in South Africa which have not been studied previously.

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1. Bacterial isolates

A total of 92 bacterial isolates were included in this study (Table 3.1). These strains were all originally isolated in South Africa from either *Crotalaria* species (30 isolates) or *Listia* (initially known as *Lotononis*) native to South Africa (62 isolates). These strains were obtained from three different sources. The largest group of isolates came from the Agricultural Research Council, Plant Protection Institute (ARC-PPRI) at Roodeplaat, Pretoria. Twelve isolates were from previous studies conducted by the Rhizobial research group at the Department of Biochemistry, Genetics and Microbiology, University of Pretoria, and seven isolates were from University of Murdoch in Perth, Western Australia. All the obtained were originally directly isolated from root nodules collected from the field.

3.2. Maintenance of bacteria

All bacterial strains were routinely sub-cultured on Yeast Mannitol Agar (YMA) (Merk Chemicals Limited, Gauteng, South Africa) plates and incubated at 28 °C for between 7 days and 2 weeks (Vincent, 1970), as some were slow growing (Corpe, 1985; Corpe and Rheem, 1989). Yeast Mannitol Agar medium contained 0.5 g/L yeast extract, 10 g/L mannitol, 0.4 g/L potassium phosphate (K₂HPO₄), 0.2 g/L magnesium sulphate heptahydrate (MgSO₄.7H₂O), 15 g/L bacteriological agar, 0.1 g/L sodium chloride (NaCl), and 1L distilled water (Somasegaran and Hoben, 1994).

3.3. Molecular identification of the bacterial strains

3.3.1. DNA extraction

Genomic DNA was extracted from pure cultures using the Quick-DNATM Miniprep kit (Zymo Research, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The quality of the

isolated genomic DNA was confirmed on a 1.0 % (w/v) agarose gel (Lonza, USA) after electrophoresis at 80V for 20 minutes. The gel was viewed under the ultraviolet light using the Biorad gel documentation system. A 1 kb DNA ladder (N3232S) (Biolabs) was included. DNA concentration was also determined using a NanoDrop (NanoDropTM 2000/2000c spectrophotometer, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) spectrophotometer.

3.3.2. Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) amplification conditions

High quality genomic DNA was used to amplify the 16S rRNA, *recA*, *rpoB* and *atpD* genes using 27F/1492R (Miller *et al.*, 2013; You *et al.*, 2008), F/R *recA* (Ardley *et al.*, 2012) as well as 83F/1061R *rpoB* and 352F/871R *atpD* (Galibert *et al.*, 2001) primer sets' respectively (Table 3.2). The PCR amplifications for each of the four different genes were conducted in a total reaction volume of 25 μ l on a 96 well thermocycler (Applied Biosystems). Each PCR reaction contained 16.3 μ l Nuclease-Free (NF) water (Anatech, South Africa), 2 μ l of 25 mM MgCl₂, 2.5 μ l of 10x buffer, 2 μ l of 2.5 mM dNTPs (Lifetech scientific), 0.2 μ l of 0.2 units of Super-Therm Taq DNA polymerase (Seperation Scientific, South Africa), and 0.5 μ l of a 10 μ M solution of each primer (both forward and reverse), and 1 μ l of the DNA template.

For the 16S rRNA gene the PCR conditions were: Initial denaturation at 95 °C for 5 minutes, followed by 30 cycles of denaturation at 95 °C for 1 minute, annealing at 55 °C for 1 minute, extension at 72 °C for 1 minute, and a final extension at 72 °C for 10 minutes. For the *atpD* gene PCR, an initial denaturation at 95 °C for 5 minutes was followed by 30 cycles of denaturation at 94 °C for 2 minutes, primer annealing at 62 °C for 1 minute, extension at 72 °C for 1 minute, and final extension at 72 °C for 5 minutes. PCR conditions for the rpoB gene were: Initial denaturation at 95 °C for 5 minutes, followed by 30 cycles of denaturation at 94 °C for 30 seconds, primer annealing at 57.8 °C for 1 minute, extension step at 72 °C and final extension at 72 °C for 5 minutes. The recA PCR consisted of an initial denaturation at 95 °C for 5 minutes, followed by 32 cycles of denaturation at 95 °C for 45 seconds, primer annealing stage at 62 °C for 1 minute, extension at 72 °C for 30 seconds and a final extension at 72 °C for 5 minutes. Negative controls were included in all PCR assays. A 1 kb DNA ladder (N3232S Biolabs) was used to confirm the PCR products using gel electrophoresis. Electrophoresis was done using a 1.0 % (w/v) agarose gel (Lonza, USA) made with 1 X TAE buffer and run for 30 minutes at 80 volts. The expected band sizes were then visualized under UV light using the Biorad gel documentation system.

3.3.3. Amplicon purification and sequencing

All PCR products of the expected size for each gene (i.e., ~1500 base pairs (bp) for 16S rRNA, ~800 bp for *rpoB*, ~ 400 bp for *atpD* and ~ 446 bp for *recA*) were purified using the Exonuclease I (Exo I) and thermoactive alkaline phosphatase (FastAP) enzymes (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA) by adding 0.5 μ l Exo I and 2 μ l FastAP to the PCR products (Werle *et al.*, 1994). The resulting reaction was placed on the heating block at 37 °C for exactly 15 minutes, and then at 85 °C for 15 minutes. Cleaned PCR products were visualized by gel electrophoresis on 1.0 % (w/v) agarose gel using 1 X TAE buffer at 80 volts for 20 minutes and viewed under UV light using the Biorad gel documentation system. The cleaned PCR products were then stored at -20 °C for further analysis.

The purified PCR amplicons were sequenced in both forward and reverse directions using the same primers that were used for amplifying each gene region (Table 3. 2). Sequencing was done using the ABI PRISM Big Dye Terminator version 3.1 Cycle Sequencing premix kit (Applied Biosystems). The sequencing reaction was carried out in a 12 µl reaction containing 10 X sequencing buffer (2µl), ddNTPs (1µl), 10 µM primer (1µl) and 4µl of the PCR product per reaction. Amplification was done at 96 °C for 5 seconds, followed by 25 cycles of 96 °C for 10 seconds, annealing at 55 °C for 5 minutes, and finally 60 °C for 4 minutes using the 96 well plate Vertigo thermal cycler (Applied Biosystems, USA). The sequenced DNA was purified using 100% ethanol, 3M sodium acetate (pH 4.8) and 70% ethanol and sequenced (at the Bioinformatics and Computational Biology Unit, University of Pretoria) using an ABI PRISM 3100 Genetic Analyzer (Applied Biosystems, USA).

3.4. Sequence analysis and alignment, and Phylogenetic analysis

The reverse and forward raw sequence data generated were downloaded from the sequence online system (Bioinformatics and Computational Biology Unit, University of Pretoria) and edited using Chromas version 2.6.5 software. For the 16S rRNA region, the closest type strains of species with valid names were obtained through comparing the bacterial sequences with the (NCBI) data bank and those type strains were further used as the reference strains when constructing the phylogenetic tree.

The sequences were then compared and identified using NCBI (https://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi). Only a subset of isolates (29) that were compared

and were identified as *Methylobacterium* were further analyzed. The edited sequences of the subset of isolates were uploaded to BioEdit software version 7.2.5 (Hall, 1999) for creating consensus sequences.

Both the bacterial culture isolates' sequences (from this study) and the selected type strains reference sequences (Table 3.3) were aligned using MAFFT (Multiple Alignment using Fast Fourier Transformation; <u>https://mafft.cbrc.jp/alignment/server/</u>) version 7.0, which takes the secondary structure of the RNA into account. For *atpD*, *recA* and *rpoB* house-keeping genes the reference sequences were also obtained from the NCBI database whereby the gene of interest was extracted from either the whole genome sequence of the most similar strain sequences, or as individual gene sequences available from the database. The sequences of the three genes for the references strains as well as the isolates from this study were manually aligned using BioEdit (Hall, 1999). Multiple sequence alignments for these protein encoding loci were generated using BioEdit based upon the inferred amino acid sequences. The same set of 29 bacterial strains and references were used for all the four genes.

For 16S rRNA, *atpD*, *recA* and *rpoB* genes, *Methylobacterium* species which formed part of Clade C1 (*Methylobacterium salsiginis* and *Methylobacterium platani*) and from clade B (*Methylobacterium populi*) (Green and Ardley, 2018) were used as outgroups. The aligned sequences for all four genes were trimmed using BioEdit and used for phylogenetic trees construction using Mega version 7.0 software as it has been cited many times, and it allows to select methods and algorithms best suited for your data (Kumar *et al.*, 2016). In Mega, the analysis of individual genes was done; which included running analysis to find the best fit DNA/Protein model, then phylogenies were inferred using maximum likelihood (ML) analyses with 1000 bootstrap replicates. The evolutionary history was inferred by using maximum likelihood method based on the Tamura-Nei model for all four genes (Tamura and Nei, 1993; Kumar *et al.*, 2016). The same best fit parameters used to infer the individual phylogenies were used to generate the MLSA concatenated phylogenetic tree.

3.5. Phenotypic characterization

3.5.1. Carbon utilization tests using the Biolog (GN2) method

Carbon utilization by *Methylobacterium* isolates was tested using the Biolog as described by Madhaiyan *et al* (2007). Based on the phylogenetic results, representative isolates from different groups of the 29 isolates that were identified as *Methylobacterium* were selected

for Biolog analysis. Accordingly, three representative isolates were selected from *Crotalaria* (i.e. Crot 99, Crot 100 and Crot 224), 3 isolates from WSM group (i.e., WSM 2598, WSM 3966 and WSM 3960), 2 XCT isolates (i.e., XCT 8 and XCT 17) and 2 isolates from SA53 group (i.e., SA53-1A and SA53-1C) (Table 3.1). The selected isolates were sub-cultured on R2A agar to obtain fresh culture. A colony of each bacterium was picked using a sterile plastic loop and suspended into a specified GN/GP inoculating fluid (IF). For each well, 150 µl of the suspension was pipetted into the well of the GN2 MicroPlate (Biolog catalog #1011) (BIOLOG Hayward, CA 94545 U.S.A). The MicroPlates were incubated at 28 °C. After 3 days the MicroPlates were scored and visually compared against the GN Database (Biolog catalog #1011), and the results recorded.

3.5.2. Temperature, salt concentration and pH tests

Temperature, salt concentration and pH tests were carried out on 29 out of 92 strains that turned out to be *Methylobacterium* using phylogenetics analysis. For all the phenotypic tests R2A and YMA agar or broth were used (Gallego *et al.*, 2005 and Park, 2018). For the temperature test, 29 *Methylobacterium* isolates were cultured on the two different media (i.e., R2A and YMA) and incubated at six different temperatures (10 °C, 15 °C, 25 °C, 37 °C, 40, and 50 °C) for a maximum of 7 days. To test salt tolerance, growth at different sodium chloride (NaCl) concentrations (0, 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5%, w/v) were measured after 7 days. To test different pH concentrations, the isolates were inoculated in broth and incubated at 37 °C, shaking at 150 rpm for 5 days. The pH concentration tolerance was tested at pH values of 3, 5, 8, and 10. The pH of both R2A broth and YMB were adjusted using HCl and NaOH after sterilization (0.15MPa, 121 °C for 15 minutes) (Park *et al.*, 2018).

4. **RESULTS**

4.1. Isolation of bacterial cultures

Among the 92 isolates, 17 (18%) of the isolates had pink to pale pink colonies on this medium while the remaining 75 (72%) had cream colonies. Of the 17 pink pigmented strains, 13 were isolated from the legume host *Listia*, while the remaining 4 strains were isolated from *Crotalaria*.

4.2. Identification of bacterial isolates using 16S rRNA phylogenetic analysis

Out of the 92 bacterial isolates used in this study, 85 (92%) isolates were successfully sequenced and analysed using 16S rRNA. From the sequenced strains, twenty-five corresponded to *Bradyrhizobium*, which is a sister genus to *Methylobacterium*, both of which are classified under Alpha-proteobacteria subclass (Table 4.1). The percentage of sequence similarity to *Bradyrhizobium* ranged from (94 to 98%). Twenty-nine isolates were affiliated with Methylobacterium nodulans, Methylobacterium WSM2598, and Methylobacterium sp 4-46 species, with percentage similarity ranging from 94-100%. Amongst the 29 isolates which compared to the genus *Methylobacterium*, 15 were from the legume genus *Listia*. These included 13 isolates from Listia bainesii, one isolate from Listia listii and the remaining one isolate from Listia solitudinis. The remaining 14 Methylobacterium affiliated isolates were from the legume genus Crotalaria. Of these, 7 isolates originated from Crotalaria lotoides and the remaining 7 isolates from Crotalaria sphaerocarpa. The remaining 31 isolates out of 85 compared either to Agrobacterim, Microvirga Neorhizobium, Rhizobium, Mesorhizobium, Sinorhizobium, Sphingomonas, or Ochrobactrum (Table 4.1). It was then decided that further analyses were going to be carried out using only the 29 Methylobacterium affiliated isolates.

The dataset used for phylogenetic analysis of the 16S rRNA sequences included sequences of all the 29 isolates identified as *Methylobacterium* strains and sequences of the type strains *Methylobacterium* species (*Methylobacterium nodulans* ORS 2060 and *Methylobacterium* sp. 4-46). These type strains fall under clade C2 members of the *Methylobacterium* genus according to the recent report by Green and Ardley (2018). The limited availability of sequences from previously characterized *Methylobacterium* strains and species using *recA*, *atpD* and *rpoB* genes in the GenBank database was the reason for the use of fewer taxa as reference strains for all the four genes. In addition, sequences belonging to (*Methylobacterium salsuginis* and *Methylobacterium platani*) falling under clade B and C1

(Green and Ardley, 2018) were also included as outgroups for all the phylogenetic analysis reported in this dissertation.

The results of the Maximum Likelihood (ML) phylogenetic analysis of the 16S rRNA gene sequences of *Methylobacterium* representative isolates are presented in Figure 4.1. From the results, the isolates separated and clustered into two distinct groups (Group A and B) (Figure 4.1). Group A comprised of *Crotalaria* isolates, which clustered together (62 bootstrap value) with the only known nodulating species of *Methylobacterium* genus, *M. nodulans* (Sy *et al.*, 2001). Group B on the other hand included isolates from *Listia* spp. legume hosts (85 bootstrap value). As expected, these isolates grouped together with the known *Methylobacterium* sp. 4-46. Interestingly, two *Crotalaria* isolates (SA-53 1a and SA-53 1c) grouped with *Listia* isolates in cluster B (Figure 4.1). These findings were further investigated using additional housekeeping gene sequences (see below).

4.3. Identification of *Methylobacterium* isolates using *rpoB*, *recA* and *atpD* genes phylogenetic analyses

Three housekeeping genes (*rpoB*, *recA* and *atpD*) were used to analyse all the 29 isolates that were confirmed as *Methylobacterium* species using the 16S rRNA gene phylogeny (Figures 4.2, 4.3 and 4.4). The BLAST results showed percentage similarities that range between 94-99% against members of *Methylobacterium* genus. These results corroborated those revealed by 16S rRNA gene sequences analysis. The phylogenetic analyses results using *rpoB* (Figure 4.2) and *recA* (Figure 4.3) genes sequences of *Methylobacterium* representative isolates supported the two cluster groups (A and B) identified using 16S rRNA gene phylogenetic analysis. Similar to 16S rRNA gene, 12 *Crotalaria* isolates were closely related to *M. nodulans. Methylobacterium* isolates from *Listia*, as well as the two isolates isolates from *Crotalaria* (SA53 1a and SA53 1c) formed a different cluster, grouping with the *Methylobacterium* sp 4-46 reference strain. This pattern was observed for both *recA* and *rpoB* genes.

The *atpD* phylogeny is presented in Figure 4.4. The recovered results did not agree with those observed for the other genes. For example, the isolates separated according to the host legumes and consistently maintained the clustering pattern of the two *Crotalaria* isolates with the *Listia* isolates. However, the *M. nodulans* reference strain grouped with the *Listia* isolates, while *Methylobacterium* sp. 4-46 reference strain closely grouped with the

Crotalaria isolates (Figure 4.4). This contradiction necessitated ANI analysis between the reference strains.

To further investigate a concatenated tree of 16S rRNA, *recA*, *rpoB* and *atpD* genes was constructed. The concatenated gene analysis yielded results that were in agreement with the 16S rRNA, *recA*, and *rpoB* single phylogenies (Figure 4.5). *Listia* isolates closely grouped together with the *Methylobacterium* sp. 4-46, while all but two of the *Crotalaria* isolates clustered together with *M. nodulans*. Two *Crotalaria* isolates (SA 51-1a, and SA 53-1c) clustered with *Listia* isolates rather than *Crotalaria* host isolates. However, with *M. salsuginis* as the outgroup, the supposedly second outgroup (*Methylobacterium platani*) moved up into the clusters and was closely grouping with the *Single gene trees*, and the reason for this could be the inclusion of the *atpD* gene, as it was the only gene with differing phylogenetic results. An ML analysis was accordinly conducted with only 16S rRNA, *recA*, and *rpoB* (Figure 4.6), which showed the clear separation of the two clusters. This separation was in agreement with the single gene phylogenies of the gene sequences used for Figure 4.6. Two outgroups are evident, as *M. platani* now grouped closely with *M. salsuginis* which confirmed that the *atpD* gene was affecting the concatenated tree results.

4.4. ANI analyses

ANI analysis was conducted using Jspecies programme on three whole genome sequences of strains that were used as reference strains in this study. These included *M. nodulans, Methylobacterium* sp. 4-46 and *Methylobacterium* sp. WSM2598 (Table 4.2). These analyses were motivated by inconsistent results generated using *atpD* housekeeping gene with regard to reference strains *M. nodulans* and *Methylobacterium* sp. 4-46, in comparison with 16S rRNA, *recA* and *rpoB* housekeeping genes (Figures 4.1-4.4). In accordance to expectations, the ANI between *M. nodulans* and *Methylobacterium* sp. 4-46 was 83% (Table 4.2). These results were consistent with the phylogenetic analyses results of 16S rRNA, *recA* and *rpoB*, but inconsistent with *atpD* phylogenetic results with regards to the two reference strains (Figures 4.1 - 4.4).

4.5. Phenotypic characterization of *Methylobacterium* isolates

4.5.1. Utilization of different carbon sources

Carbon source utilization tests were done using 96 well BIOLOG microplate (Table 4.9). Representative strains from the two distinct groups based on phylogenetic analyses were selected for Biolog tests. The selected isolates were five from the *Crotalaria* host group (i.e., Crot 99, Crot 100, Crot 224, SA 53-1a, and SA 53-1c) and six from the *Listia* host group (i.e., WSM 2598, WSM 3966, WSM 3960, XCT 8, XCT 13, and XCT 17). The expectations were that isolates from the same group would test positive or negative on the same carbon compounds. However, there were no clear specific patterns according to representative groups. This is because generally different isolates within a representative group revealed varied responses to similar carbon sources.

Interestingly, while A-Cycodextrin was not utilized by any of the selected *Methylobacterium* strains, D-Galactonic Acid Lactone and B-Hydroxybutyric Acid were utilized by all the selected representative *Methylobacterium* strains. Another interesting result was that Uridine was utilized by all the first three (Crot 99, Crot 100, and Crot 224) *Crotalaria* representative strains but not by the *Listia* representative strains or the second two (SA 53-1a, and SA 53-1c) *Crotalaria* strains that always grouped with *Listia* strains. On the other hand, D-Sorbital carbon was utilized by all the *Listia* and SA 53 strains but not by the *first three Crotalaria* strains. D-Trehalose was utilized by WSM and SA 53 representative isolates and not by the first *Crotalaria* and XCT representative isolates. Generally, a low or no utilization of D-Raffinose, L-Rhamnose, and Sucrose by the first three *Crotalaria* representative isolates compared to full utilization by the *Listia* representatives and the two SA 53 *Crotalaria* host isolates was observed. Thymidine, Phenylethylamine, Putrescine and 2-Aminoethanol were not utilized by all the isolates except Crot 99.

4.5.2. Growth responses to temperature, pH and NaCl concentrations

The twenty-nine isolates that were identified as *Methylobacterium* strains were used for growth response analyses. Growth was tested at five different temperatures (10 °C, 25 °C, 37 °C, 40 °C and 50 °C) using two different growth media (YMA and R2A agar) (Table 4.3 and 4.4). For both growth media, no growth was observed at the two extreme temperatures (10 °C and 50 °C) for this study. Growth was observed at 25 °C, 37 °C, and 40 °C on both media. Interestingly, there were notable distinctions in *Methylobacterium* strains optimal growth temperature between YMA and R2A agar. Optimum growth of *Methylobacterium*
on YMA agar was recorded at 25 °C for 18 isolates compared to 14 and 7 isolates at 37 °C and 40 °C, respectively (Table 4.3). On the other hand, all *Methylobacterium* strains grew well at 37 °C on R2A agar. For the two extreme temperatures the results varied, no growth was recorded at 50 °C, while at 10 °C eight isolates presented slight growth and the rest did not grow at this temperature (Table 4.4).

Growth of *Methylobacterium* strains in different pH conditions (pH 3, 5, 8 and 10) was evaluated using Yeast Mannitol (YM) and R2A broth. No growth was observed at pH 3 (Table 4.5 and 4.6). At pH 5, most isolates showed notable growth in both YM (20 out of 29 isolates grew) and R2A broth (Table 4.5 and 4.6). All isolates showed maximum growth at pH 8 and pH 10 in both media (Table 4.5 and 4.6).

Growth requirement for NaCl was also tested using the two media (Yeast mannitol and R2A agar). Both media were supplemented with 0%, 1%, 2%, 3%, 4%, and 5% (w/v) NaCl concentrations (Table 4.7 and 4.8). For YMA, slight to no growth was observed at 4% and 5% NaCl concentrations. At 0-2% NaCl concentrations, full to moderate growth occurred for all isolates. At 3% NaCl concentration, most isolates grew except 6 that showed no growth (Table 4.7). Using R2A agar, slight-to no growth was observed at 4% and 5% NaCl concentrations, similar to that on YMA. At 0-3% NaCl concentrations, growth by all *Methylobacterium* isolates was observed (Table 4.8).

5. **DISCUSSION**

5.1. Phylogenetics of Methylobacterium strains in South Africa

Members within Crotalarieae tribe are nodulated by diverse rhizobia as was shown by diverse rhizobia that nodulated Listia and Crotalaria in this study. Out of the 92 bacterial isolates derived from Listia and Crotalaria, 29 were identified as Methylobacterium, 25 as Bradyrhizobium while the remaining isolates were identified either as Neorhizobium, Agrobacterium, Rhizobium, Mesorhizobium, Sinorhizobium, *Sphingomonas* or Ochrobactrum according to 16S rRNA housekeeping gene. Leobordea, a sister genus to Listia and Lotononis (Crotalarieae) also has been reported to nodulate with Bradyrhizobium, Ensifer, Mesorhizobium, and Methylobacterium (Sy et al., 2001; Moulin et al., 2004; Renier et al., 2008; Ardley et al., 2013; Howieson et al., 2013). The findings presented here therefore suggest that species belonging to both Crotalaria and Listia are being nodulated by diverse rhizobia and not just by *Methylobacterium*.

Usually, *Methylobacterium* strains are characterized by pink pigmented colonies. This was true for 17 of the 29 isolates identified as *Methylobacterium*. These findings are in line with other studies (Green and Bousfield, 1982; Rice *et al.*, 2000; Van Dien *et al.*, 2003; Ardley *et al*, 2014; Green and Ardley, 2018) that reported pink pigmentation colony as a characteristic for most members of *Methylobacterium*. However, the remaining 12 isolates (mainly from *Crotalaria*) produced non-pink pigmented cream colonies, most of which turned out to group with the *M. nodulans* reference strain, except the two SA53 isolates that grouped with *Methylobacterium* sp. 4-46 reference strain. Similarly, non-pink pigmented *Methylobacterium* were reported from *Crotalaria* which included the type strain *M. nodulans* originally isolated from root nodules of *C. podocarpa* (Sy *et al.*,2001). It can therefore be concluded that most *M. nodulans* strains are white in colour, suggesting that the "pink pigmentation" trait cannot be used as a defining characteristic for *Methylobacterium* species.

Phylogenetic analysis of the twenty-nine isolates identified as *Methylobacterium* using 16S rRNA gene revealed two potential groups. Microbial studies often rely on 16S rRNA gene sequences when taxonomically describing bacterial strains (Bukin *et al.*, 2019). However, analysis of the 16S ribosomal RNA gene sequences reliably identifies species up to genus level (in most cases with a similarity estimation of > 90%) and provides limited resolution at the species level (Janda and Abbott, 2007). Consequently, the 16S ribosomal RNA gene

did not provide substantial information to conclude whether a potential new *Methylobacterium* species were delineated. Therefore, it was imperative to consider more housekeeping genes in addition to the 16S ribosomal RNA sequences. Single phylogenies of *recA*, *rpoB* and *atpD* genes were constructed and the findings established a clear separation pattern of the isolates into two cluster groups A and B. Accordingly, all the *Listia* isolates formed a cluster Group B and most of the *Crotalaria* isolates clustered in Group A for the *recA* and *rpoB* genes. These phylogenetic results, however, did not prove host legume specificity when it comes to clustering of strains, given that two of the *Crotalaria* isolates (SA53-1a and SA53-1c) grouped with *Listia* isolates in cluster Group B.

Only a few sequences the *recA* and *rpoB* genes of *Methylobacterium* isolates are captured in GenBank. Most strains in the database have been identified using only the 16S rRNA gene, and the demonstration of the ability of these genes to differentiate between potential species was therefore not very informative. The isolates from Group B clustered with the *Methylobacterium* sp. 4-46 isolate. This strain is considered to be an important reference strain as its genome sequence has been available for a while. Isolates in Group A clustered with the *M. nodulans* type strain. These findings are in line with another report, which showed a close association of *Methylobacterium* sp. 4-46 and *Methylobacterium* sp. 4-46 and *Methylobacterium* sp. 4598 (a representative strain from *Listia*) was 98.8%, suggesting that the two strains belong to the same species (Konstantinidis and Tiedje, 2005; Goris *et al.*, 2007; Jain *et al.*, 2018). These findings agreed with those of Green and Ardley (2018) who showed that all *Listia* isolates grouped together with the two reference strains as part of their clade C2.

The phylogeny of the *atpD* gene was inconsistent with the rest of the gene phylogenies, as the *M. nodulans* type strain grouped with isolates from Group B. The resolution for this gene region was not very informative and the clusters formed had very low bootstrap support. To the best of my knowledge, this pattern has not been reported in any of the previous studies, where the isolates from these two legumes have been known to be host specific when it comes to phylogenetic clustering. As a result, two concatenated trees were presented, the first including the *atpD* gene for consistency of the examined isolates and the second excluding the *atpD* gene for consistency of both isolates and the reference strains.

All *Crotalaria* isolates except two isolates (i.e., SA 53-1a and SA 53-1c) formed part of group A and clustered together with the reference strain *M. nodulans*. ANI values between *M. nodulans* and *Methylobacterium* spp. 4-46 and WSM2598 strains were 83.3% and 83.5% respectively, which meant that *M. nodulans* belongs to a different but closely related species to the two other isolates with whole genomes available (Konstantinidis and Tiedje, 2005; Goris *et al.*, 2007; Jain *et al.*, 2018). Close relatedness between *M. nodulans*, *Methylobacterium* spp. 4-46 and WSM2598 strains was also evident as all isolates belonged to clade C2 as determined in a previous study (Green and Ardley, 2018). However, in that analysis *M. nodulans* had formed a separate cluster with *M. isbiliense* AR24^T away from *Methylobacterium* spp. 4-46, WSM2598 and other *Listia* strains (Green and Ardley, 2018).

Two of the Crotalaria isolates (SA 53-1a and SA 53-1c) consistently grouped with Listia isolates forming part of the Group B cluster and therefore formed part of the new species. This finding was consistent for all the single genes phylogenies, as well as the concatenated MLSA trees. The two isolates were isolated from ARC, Roodeplaat compared to the rest of the Crotalaria isolates, which were isolated from other areas (Mpumalanga, Kamiesberg, and Owen Sithole college of agriculture) in South Africa. It is, however, not clear why the two isolates consistently grouped with Listia instead of the other Crotalaria isolates. This was an interesting finding, because a case like this has never been recorded before. It may therefore necessitate the analysis of nodulation and symbiotic genes to try to explain the clustering of the two isolates with Listia isolates as well as the performance of cross inoculation studies. In accordance to expectations, most of the isolates grouped together with their closely related reference strains representing either *M. nodulans* or the new Methylobacterium sp 4-46 species. For example, Listia isolates grouped with Methylobacterium sp. 4-46 reference strain representing the new species while the Crotalaria isolates apart from the two isolates mentioned above grouped with the M. nodulans type strain.

5.2. Phenotypic characterization of *Methylobacterium* strains in South Africa

Phenotypic analyses were conducted on representative isolates from the two legume hosts (*Listia* and *Crotalaria*) to study the phenotype of the isolates in both Goup A and B. Unlike the phylogenetic analyses, phenotypic traits did not reveal notable and hence reliable patterns to differentiate between the two *Methylobacterium* species groups. For example, for carbon utilization tests, all the selected isolates utilized D-Galactonic Acid Lactone and B-

Hydroxybutyric Acid, while A- Cycodextrin was not utilized by any of the selected *Methylobacterium* isolates. This meant that some sole carbon substrates provide energy for both groups of *Methylobacterium* isolates. Different carbon substrates (Succinate and Glutamate) supported the growth of *Listia* isolates and strain ORS 2060 (from *Crotalaria podocarpa*) (Ardley *et al.*, 2009).

Similar to A-Cycodextrin in this study, C1 carbon sources (i.e., Methylamine and Formaldehyde) as well as D+galactose, D-glucose and D-mannitol sole carbon sources were not utilized by any of the isolates (Ardley et al., 2009; Green and Ardley, 2018). However, D-mannitol in the current study was utilized by all isolates except Crot 100 and Crot 224. Larabinose that was utilized by all Group B isolates except for SA53-1c, and all Group A isolates. These findings partly support, but also contradict those of Madhaiyan et al. (2007) and Ardley et al. (2009) as L-arabinose was only utilized by ORS 2060 but not by the Listia isolates. Uridine and D-Sorbitol carbon substrates utilization matched the patterns observed in phylogenetic findings. Accordingly, Uridine was utilized by the three isolates from Group A (Crot 99, Crot 100 and Crot 224) but not by any of the Group B isolates. A similar trend between Listia and Crotalaria ORS 2060 strains was observed for methanol where Methylobacterium nodulans ORS 2060 (group A in this study) utilized methanol but was not utilized by *Listia* strains (Group B in this study) (Ardley et al., 2009; Green and Ardley, 2018). On the other hand, all Group B isolates utilized D-sorbitol carbon substrate, but none of the three representatives from group A did. So far, D-sorbitol is the sole carbon source that is reported to be utilized by all group B isolates but not isolates that distinctly formed group A in this study. Taken together, carbon sources utilization revealed limited variations between the Methylobacterium strains considered for this study, all of which fall under clade C2 according to the phylogenetic analysis of Green and Ardley (2018). Since Green and Ardley (2018) and Madhaiyan et al (2007) were able to show carbon utilization distinctions between some carbon sources like Methylamine, Methanol and L-arabinose between strains belonging to different clades, it may be proposed that carbon sources utilization method is more reliable when isolates belonging to different lineages are compared.

Regarding the effect of temperature on growth of *Methylobacterium* isolates, the results presented here showed optimum growth of most isolates at temperatures between 25-32 °C for both YMA and R2A growth media. These findings generally agreed with other reports, which observed a similar temperature range for optimal growth for most *Methylobacterium*

isolates (Flournoy *et al.*, 1992; Hornie *et al.*, 1999; Doronina *et al.*, 2000; Rice *et al.*, 2000; Green and Ardley, 2018). Isolates from different host legumes did not show any variation in terms of growth temperature. Although temperature variations (e.g., either between the temperate and tropical climates or seasons like summer, winter, autumn and spring) may influence growth of particular microbial communities (Rasche *et al.*, 2011; Muema *et al.*, 2016), different plants are able to establish and thrive in close proximities thereby sharing similar habitats with regards to environmental conditions. This was the case for the two legumes in some parts in South Africa and may explain their ability, or that of their symbionts to grow optimally under similar temperature ranges.

With regards to pH of the growth medium, maximum growth for all *Methylobacterium* isolates tests was observed at pH 8 and 10 for both growth media. These findings are in agreement with Green and Ardley (2018) and Park *et al.* (2018), who reported good growth of *Methylobacterium* species at a pH between 7 to 10. Additionally, at pH 5 a notable growth of 73% of the isolates using YMA was observed while growth for most isolates was shown using R2A. Some *Methylobacterium* species can also grow at a pH lower than 5 (Park *et al.*, 2018). The extreme acidic pH of 3 completely hindered the growth of *Methylobacterium* species on both media. There are, however, microbes that can survive at low pH conditions, especially under nutrients stressed conditions (Yang *et al.*, 2012), which was not the case in the current study.

Just like the temperature and pH tests on growth of *Methylobacterium* species, their growth at different NaCl concentrations was similar. Moderate to good growth for most isolates was observed at NaCl concentrations between 0 % and 3%, with slight to no growth at 4-5% NaCl. Good growth at 3% NaCl contrasted with most reports that indicated that *Methylobacterium* strains cannot grow at salt concentrations more than 2% (Doronina *et al.*, 2000; Green and Ardley, 2018; Park *et al.*, 2018). Members of *Methylobacterium*, however, have been found to be able to tolerate stress conditions including antimicrobials in clinical studies (Doronina *et al.*, 2000; Egamberdieva *et al.*, 2015). In Australia, strains of pink pigmented *Methylobacterium* used as commercial inoculants for *Listia bainesii* can persist in acidic, sandy and infertile soils, while remaining symbiotically and serologically stable (Yates *et al.*, 2007; Ardley *et al.*, 2014). The previous findings could possibly explain why slight growth was observed between 4% and 5% NaCl concentrations in this study. Overall, temperature, pH and NaCl concentrations influenced growth of *Methylobacterium* species.

These influences were, however, not specific to the *Methylobacterium* isolates depending on their species group or the growth media used.

6. CONCLUSIONS

• Single gene phylogenies of 16S rRNA, *recA* and *rpoB* best delineated *Methylobacterium* isolates mainly relating them with the known and available genome reference strains of *M. nodulans* and *Methylobacterium* sp. 4-46 compared to the *atpD* gene phylogeny.

• Separation of isolates between different host legumes (i.e., *Crotalaria* and *Listia*) was not observed for all the *Crotalaria* isolates, as two of them (SA531a and SA531c) instead grouped with isolates obtained from *Listia*.

• Carbon utilization tests did not allow resolution of the two species groups observed in the phylogenies. These tests did, however, share similar patterns, as D-Galactonic Acid Lactone and B-Hydroxybutyric Acid were utilized by all the selected representative *Methylobacterium* isolates, while A-Cycodextrin was not utilized by any of the selected *Methylobacterium*. Since the *Methylobacterium* isolates examined were closely related, having fallen under clade C2 according to Green and Ardley (2018), it could be proposed that differentiation based on carbon utilization is more reliable when *Methylobacterium* isolates that fall within different clades are distinguished.

• Temperature, pH and NaCl concentration has a marked influence on the growth of *Methylobacterium* isolates, but these factors do not depend on host specificity of the isolates or the growth media used.

32

7. **RECOMMENDATIONS**

• Given the findings of the work presented here, I recommend future analyses of nodulation and nitrogen fixing symbiotic genes (e.g. nodABC, and nifH) of the two *Crotalaria* isolates (SA 53-1a and SA 531c) isolated from ARC-Roodeplaat and to compare these to those of other *Crotalaria* and *Listia* isolates. This may help explain why the two SA53 isolates consistently formed part of Group B, the new species cluster and not *M. nodulans* as was expected.

• This analysis would investigate whether there are symbiotic traits confined to *Listia* by determining the ability of rhizobial strains isolated from species of *Crotalaria* sp to nodulate *Listia* host, by examining the morphology structure of the resulting nodules.

• According to 16S rRNA, *recA* and *rpoB* gene phylogenies, the *M. nodulans* type strain consistently clustered with the *Crotalaria* isolates, while the *Methylobacterium* sp. 4-46 reference strain consistently clustered with *Listia* isolates which is also supported by literature. I therefore recommend that it would be prudent to embark on the process of formally describing the new *Methylobacterium* species arising from this study.

• The *Listia* group of isolates has at least two representative genomes (WSM 2598 and 4-46). To fully understand the genomic diversity of this group, further whole genome sequence analyses of its representative isolate/s may be necessary in the future, as it will assist in understanding how the *Listia* and *Crotaloria* isolates which form part of this species may differ.

8. **REFERENCES**

- Andronov, E.E., Terefework, Z., Roumiantseva, M. L., Dzyubenko, N. I., Onichtchouk, O. P., Kurchak, O.N., Lindstrom, K. (2003). Symbiotic and genetic diversity of *Rhizobium galegae* isolates collected from the *Galega orientalis* gene center in the Caucasus. *Applied Environmental Microbiology*. 69, 1067-1074.
- Anesti, V., Vohra, J., Goonetilleka, S., McDonald, I.R., Straubler, B., Stackebrandt, E., Kelly, D.P., Wood, A.P. (2006). Molecular detection and isolation of facultatively methylotrophic bacteria, including *Methylobacterium podarium* sp. nov. from the human foot microflora. *Environmental Microbiology*. 6, 820-830.
- Antony, R., Krishnan, K.P., Laluraj, C.M., Thamban, M., Dhakephalkar, P.K., Engineer, A.S., Shivaji, S. (2012). Diversity and physiology of culturable bacteria associated with a coastal Antarctic ice core. *Microbiological Research*. 167, 372-380.
- Araújo J., Flores-Félix, J.D., Igual, J.M., Peix', A., González-Andrés, F., Díaz-Alcántara, C.A., Velázquez, E. (2017). *Bradyrhizobium cajani* sp. nov. isolated from nodules of *Cajanus cajan. International Journal of Systematics and Evolutionary Microbiology*. 67, 2236-2241.
- Ardley, J., O'Hara, G., Reeve, W., Yates, R., Dilworth, M., Tiwari, R., Howieson, J. (2009).
 Root nodule bacteria isolated from South African *Lotononis bainesii*, *L. listii* and *L. solitudinis* are species of *Methylobacterium* that are unable to utilize methanol. *Archives of Microbiology*. 191, 311-318.
- Ardley, J.K., Parker, M.A., De Meyer, S.E., Trengove, R.D., O'Hara, G.W., Reeve, W.G., Yates, R.J., Dilworth, M.J., Willems, A., Howieson, J.G. (2012). *Microvirga lupini* sp. nov., *Microvirga lotononidis* sp. nov., and *Microvirga zambiensis* sp. nov. are Alphaproteobacterial root nodule bacteria that specifically nodulate and fix nitrogen with geographically and taxonomically separate legume hosts. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*. 62, 2579-2588.
- Ardley, J.K., Reeve, W.G., O'Hara, G.W., Yates, R.J., Dilworth, M.J., Howieson, J.G. (2013). Nodule morphology, symbiotic specificity and association with unusual rhizobia are distinguishing features of the genus *Listia* within the southern African crotalarioid clade *Lotononis s.l. Annals of Botany*. 112, 1-15.
- Ardley, J., Tian, R., Howieson, J., Yates, R., Bräu, L., Han, J., Reeve, W. (2014). Genome sequence of the dark pink pigmented *Listia bainesii* microsymbiont *Methylobacterium* sp. WSM2598. *Standards in Genomic Sciences*. 9, 5-17.

- Aslam, Z., Lee, C.S., Kim, K.H., Im, W.T., Ten, L.N., Lee, S.T. (2007). Methylobacterium jeotgali sp. nov., a non-pigmented, facultatively methylotrophic bacterium isolated from jeotgal, a traditional Korean fermented seafood. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology. 57, 566-571.
- Barrett, C.F. and Parker, M.A. (2006). Coexistence of *Burkholderia*, *Cupriavidus*, and *Rhizobium* sp. nodule bacteria on two *Mimosa* spp. in Costa Rica. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*. 72, 1198-1206.
- Balows, A., Trüper, H.G., Dworkin, M., Harder, W., Schleifer, K.H. (1992). The Prokaryotes. *Springer-Verlag*, New York. 3593-3607.
- Beukes, C.W., Palmer, M., Manyaka, P., Chan, W.Y., Avontuur, J. R., Zyl E., Venter, S. N., Steenkamp, E. T. (2017). Genome data provides high support for generic boundaries in *Burkholderia* sensu lato. *Frontiers in Microbiology*. 8,1154-1166.
- Bochner, B.R., Giovannetti, L., Viti, C. (2008). Important discoveries from analysing bacterial phenotypes. *Molecular Microbiology*. 70, 274-280.
- Bournaud, C., de Faria, S.M., dos Santos, J.M.F., Tisseyre, P., Silva, M., Chaintreuil C., Moulin, L. (2013). *Burkholderia* species are the most common and preferred nodulating symbionts of the *Piptadenia* Group (Tribe Mimoseae). *Public Library of Science ONE*. 8, 63478-63491.
- Brenner, Don J., Krieg, Noel R., Staley, James T. (2005). George M. Garrity, ed. The Proteobacteria. Bergey's Manual of Systematic Bacteriology. 2C (2nd ed.). Springer. New York, 1388-1392.
- Brewin, N.J. (1991). Development of the legume root nodule. *Annual Review of Cell Biology*. 7, 191-226.
- Bukin, Y.S., Galachyants, Y.P., Morozov, I.V., Bukin, S.V., Zakharenko, A.S., Zemskaya, T.I. (2019). The effect of 16S rRNA region choice on bacterial community metabarcoding results. *Scientific Data*. 6, 190-201.
- Casida, L.E., Jr. (1982). *Ensifer adhaerens* gen. nov., sp. nov., A bacterial predator of bacteria in soil. *International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology*. 32, 339-345.
- Cao, Y.R., Wang, Q., Jin, R.X., Tang, S.K., Jiang, Y., He, W.X., Lai, H.X., Xu, L.H., Jiang, C.L. (2011). *Methylobacterium soli* sp. nov., a methanol-utilizing bacterium isolated from the forest soil. *Antonie van Leeuwenhoek*. 99, 629-634.
- Chaudhry, V., Baindara, P., Pal, V.K., Chawla, N., Patil P.B., Korpole, S. (2016). *Methylobacterium indicum* sp. nov., a facultative methylotrophic bacterium isolated from rice seed. *Systematic and Applied Microbiology*. 39, 25-32.

- Chen, W.X., Yan, G.H., Li, J.L. (1988). Numerical taxonomic study of fast-growing soybean rhizobia and a proposal that *Rhizobium fredii* be assigned to *Sinorhizobium* gen. nov. *International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology*. 38, 392-397.
- Chen, W.H., Yang, S.H., Li, Z.H., Zhang, X.X., Sui, X.H., Wang, E.T., Chen, W.F. (2017). *Ensifer shofinae* isolated from root nodules of soybean (Glycine max). *Systematic and Applied Microbiology*. 40, 144-149.
- Friedland, J.S. (1998). Topley & Wilson's microbiology and microbial infections. *Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*. 92, 470-472.
- Corpe, W.A. (1985). A method for detecting methylotrophic bacteria on solid surfaces. Journal of Microbiological Methods. 3, 215-221.
- Corpe, W.A. and Rheem, S. (1989). Ecology of the methylotrophic bacteria on living leaf surfaces. *Federation of European Microbiological Societies Microbiology letters*. 62, 243-249
- Degefu, T., Wolde-meskel, E., Frostegård, Å. (2011). Multilocus sequence analyses reveal several unnamed *Mesorhizobium* genospecies nodulating *Acacia* species and *Sesbania sesban* trees in southern regions of Ethiopia. *Systematic and Applied Microbiology*. 34, 216-226.
- Degefu, T., Wolde-meskel, E., Liu, B., Cleenwerck, I., Willems, A. Frostegård, Å., (2013). Mesorhizobium shonense sp. nov., Mesorhizobium hawassense sp. nov., and Mesorhizobium abyssinicae sp. nov. isolated from root nodules of different agroforestry legume trees. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology. 63, 1746-1753.
- De Lajudie, P., Laurent-Fullele, E., Willems, A., Torck, U., Coopman, R., Collins, M.D., Kersters, K., Dreyfus, B., Gillis, M. (1998). *Allorhizobium undicola* gen. nov., sp. nov., nitrogen-fixing bacteria that efficiently nodulate *Neptunia natans* in Senegal. *International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology*. 48, 1277-1290.
- De Meyer, S.E., Tan, H.W., Andrews, M., Heenan, P.B., Willems, A. (2016). *Mesorhizobium calcicola* sp. nov., *Mesorhizobium waitakense* sp. nov., *Mesorhizobium sophorae* sp. nov., *Mesorhizobium newzealandense* sp. nov. and *Mesorhizobium kowhaii* sp. nov. isolated from Sophora root nodules in New Zealand. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*. 66, 786-795.
- Ding, H. and Hynes, M.F. (2009). Plasmid transfer systems in the rhizobia. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology*. 55, 917-927.

- Doronina, N.V., Trotsenko, Y.A., Tourova, T.P., Kuznetsov, B.B., Leisinger, T. (2000). *Methylopila helvetica* sp. nov., and *Methylobacterium dichloromethanicum* sp. nov. novel aerobic facultatively methylotrophic bacteria utilizing dichloromethane. *Systematic and Applied Microbiology*. 23, 210-218.
- Dreyfus, B., Garcia, J.L., Gillis, M. (1988). Characterization of *Azorhizobium caulinodans* gen. nov., sp. nov., a stem-nodulating nitrogen-fixing bacterium isolated from *Sesbania rostrata*. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*. 38, 89-98.
- Egamberdieva, D., Wirth, S., Alqarawi, A.A., Abd-Allah, E.F. (2015). Salt tolerant *Methylobacterium mesophilicum* showed viable colonization abilities in the plant rhizosphere. *Saudi Journal of Biological Sciences*. 22, 585-90
- Elbeltagy, A., Nishioka, K., Suzuki, H., Sato, T., Sato, Y.I., Morisaki, H., Mitsui, H., Minamisawa, K. (2000). Isolation and characterization of endophytic bacteria from wild and traditionally cultivated rice varieties. *Soil Science and Plant Nutrition*. 46, 617-629.
- Emerich, D.W. and Krishnan, H.B. (2014). Symbiosomes: temporary moonlighting organelles. *Biochemical Journal*. 460, 1-11.
- Euzéby, J.P. (1997). List of bacterial names with standing in nomenclature. *International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology*. 47, 590-592.
- Farrand, S.K., van Berkum, P.B., Oger, P. (2003). Agrobacterium is a definable genus of the
- family Rhizobiaceae. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology.53, 1681-1687.
- Fedorov, D.N., Doronina, N.V., Trotsenko, Y.A. (2011). Phytosymbiosis of aerobic Methylobacteria: New facts and views. Microbiology. 80, 443-454.
- Fernandez, M., Dreyer, Z., Hockenberry-Eaton, M., Baker, C.J. (1977). *Methylobacterium mesophilica* as a cause of persistent bacteremia in a child with lymphoma. *Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal*. 16, 1007-1008.
- Fierer, N. and Jackson, R.B. (2006). The diversity and biogeography of soil bacterial communities. *Proceedings of National Academy of Science of USA*. 103, 626-631.
- Fisher, R.F., and Long S.R. (1992). Rhizobium-plant signal exchange. Nature. 357, 655-660
- Flournoy, D.J., Petrone, R.L., Voth, D.W. (1992). A pseudo-outbreak of *Methylobacterium mesophilica* isolated from patients undergoing bronchoscopy. *European Journal of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases*. 11, 240-243.

- Fox, G.E., Stackebrandt, E., Hespell, R.B., Gibson, J., Manilo;, J., Dyer, T.A., Wolfe, R.S., Balch, W.E., Tanner, R.S., Magrum, L.J., Zablen, L.B., Blakemore, R., Gupta, R., Bonen, L., Lewis, B.J., Stahl, D.A., Luehrsen, K.R., Chen, K.N. and Woese, C.R. (1980). The phylogeny of prokaryotes. *Science*. 209, 457-463.
- Furuhata, K. and Koike, K.A. (1990). Characteristics and antibiotic susceptibility of *Methylobacterium extorquens* isolated from drinking water and air in the hospital. *Nikkanshi*. 5, 47-51.
- Furuhata, K. and Matsumoto, A. (1992). Some bacteriological studies on the pinkish slimy films formed on tiles using bathrooms and washstands. *Annual Report of Tokyo Metropolitan Research Laboratory Public Health*. 43, 197-204.
- Furuhata, K. and Koike, K.A. (1993). Isolation of *Methylobacterium* spp. from drinking tank-water and resistance of isolates to chlorine. *Koshuu*. 40, 1047-1053.
- Gai, C.S., Lacava, P.T., Quecine, M.C., Auriac, M.C., Lopes, J.R.S., Arau´jo, W.L., Miller, T.A., Azevedo, J.L. (2009). Transmission of *Methylobacterium mesophilicum* by *Bucephalogonia xanthophis* for paratransgenic control strategy of citrus variegated chlorosis. *Journal of Basic Microbiology*. 47, 448-454
- Galibert, F., Finan, T.M., Long, S.R., Pühler, A., Abola, P., Ampe, F., Barloy-Hubler, F., Barnett, M.J., Becker, A., Boistard, P. (2001). The composite genome of the legume symbiont *Sinorhizobium meliloti*. *Science*. 293, 668-672.
- Gallego, V., Garcı'a, M.T., Ventosa, A. (2005). *Methylobacterium variabile* sp. nov., a methylotrophic bacterium isolated from an aquatic environment. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*. 55, 1429-1433.
- Garrity, G. (2001). Bergey's Manual of Systematic Bacteriology, 2nd ed. Springer-Verlag. New York, NY. 1,709-721.
- Gevers, D., Vandepoele, K., Simillion, C., Van de Peer, Y. (2004). Gene duplication and biased functional retention of paralogs in bacterial genomes. *Trends in Microbiology*. 12,148-154.
- Gevers, D., Cohan, F.M., Lawrence, J.G., Spratt, B.G., Coenye, T., Feil, E.J., Stackebrandt,
 E., Van de Peer, Y., Vandamme, P., Thompson, F.L., Swings, J. (2005). Reevaluating prokaryotic species. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*. 3,733-739
- Gnat, S., Małek, W., Oleńska, E., Wdowiak-Wróbel, S., Kalita, M., Łotocka, B., Wójcik, M. (2015). Phylogeny of symbiotic genes and the symbiotic properties of rhizobia specific to Astragalus glycyphyllos L. Public Library of Science ONE. 10, e0141504.

- Gonzalez, J.E. and Marketon, M.M. (2003). Quorum sensing in nitrogen-fixing rhizobia. *Microbiology and Molecular Biolology Reviews*. 67, 574-592.
- Goris, J., Konstantinidis, K.T., Klappenbach, J.A., Coenye, T., Vandamme, P., Tiedje, J.M. (2007). DNA-DNA hybridization values and their relationship to whole-genome sequence similarities. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*. 57, 81-91.
- Gray, M.W. (1992) The endosymbiont hypothesis revisited. *International Review of Cytology*. 141, 233-357.
- Gray, M.W. and Doolittle, W.F. (1982) Has the endosymbiont hypothesis been proven? *Microbiology Review*. 46, 1-42.
- Green, P.N. and Bousfield, I.J. (1981). The taxonomy of pink pigmented facultatively methylotrophic bacteria. In: Dalton H ed. Microbial growth on C1-compounds. *Heyden and Son, London.* 285-293.
- Green, P.N. and Bousfield, I.J. (1982). A taxonomic study of some gram-negative facultatively methylotrophic bacteria. *Journal of General Microbiology*. 128, 623-638.
- Green, P.N. and Bousfield I.J. (1983). Emendation of *Methylobactenzum* Patt, Cole, and Hanson (1976); *Methylobacterium rhodinum* (Heumann 1962) comb. nov., and *Methylobacterium mesophilicum* (Austin and Goodfellow 1979) comb. nov. *International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology*. 33,875-877.
- Green, P.N. (1999). The genus *Methylobacterium*. In the Prokaryotes: An Evolving Electronic Resource for the Microbiological Community, 3rd edition. *Springer-Verlag*, New York, N.Y.
- Green, P.N. and Ardley, J.K. (2018). Review of the genus *Methylobacterium* and closely related organisms: a proposal that some *Methylobacterium* species be reclassified into a new genus, *Methylorubrum* gen. nov. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*. 68, 2727-2748.
- Graham, P.H., Sadowsky, M.J., Keyser, H.H., Barnet, Y.M., Bradley, R.S., Cooper, J.E., Deley, D.J., Jarvis, B.D.W., Roslycky, E.B., Strijdom, B.W., Young, J.P.W. (1991).
 "Proposed minimal standards for the description of new genera and species of root nodulating and stem- nodulating bacteria." *International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology*. 41, 582-587.
- Gupta, R.S. (2000). The natural evolutionary relationships among prokaryotes. *Critical Reviews in Microbiology*. 26, 111-131

- Gyaneshwar, P., Hirsch, A.M., Moulin, L., Chen, W.M., Elliott, G.N., Bontemps, C., Estrada-de los Santos, P., Gross, E., dos Reis Jr, F.B., Sprent, J.I., Young, J.P.W. (2011). Legume-nodulating betaproteobacteria: diversity, host range, and future prospects. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions*. 24, 1276-1288.
- Hall, T.A. (1999). BioEdit: a user-friendly biological sequence alignment editor and analysis program for Windows 95/98/NT. *Nucleic Acids Symposium Series*. 41, 95-98.
- Hernandez-Lucas, A., Hong, L., Huizar, R., Hyman, W., Jones, T., Kahn, D., Kahn, M.L., Kalman, S., Keating, D.H., Kiss, E., Komp, C., Lelaure, V., Masuy, D. Palm, C., Peck, M.C., Pohl, T.M., Portetelle, D., Purnelle, B., Ramsperger, U., Surzycki, R., Thebault, P., Vandenbol, M., Vorholter, F.J., Weidner, S., Wells, D.H., Wong, K., Yeh, K.C., Batut, J. (2001). The composite genome of the legume symbiont *Sinorhizobium meliloti*. *Science*. 293, 668-672.
- Hirano, S.S. and Upper, C.D. (1991). Bacterial community dynamics. In: Andrews, J.H., Hirano, S.S. eds. Microbial ecology of leaves. New York, USA, *Springer Verlag*. 271-294.
- Holmes, B.M., Costas, M. Ganner, S.L., Stevens, M. (1994). Evaluation of Biolog system for identification of some gram-negative bacteria of clinical importance. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*. 32, 1970-1975.
- Holt, J.G., Krieg, N.R., Sneath, P.H.A., Staley, J.T. Stanley, T.W. (1994). Bergey's Manual of Determinative Bacteriology. *Williams and Wilkins*, Baltimore. 786-788.
- Hoppe, T., Peters, K., Schmidt, F. (2011). Methylobacterium bullatum sp. nov., a methylotrophic bacterium isolated from Funaria hygrometrica. Systematic and Applied Microbiology. 34, 482-486.
- Hornei, B., Lüneberg, E., Schmidt-Rotte, H., Maass, M., Weber, K., Heits, F., Frosc, M., Solbach, W. (1999). Systemic infection of an immunocompromised patient with *Methylobacterium zatmanii*. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*. 37, 248-250.
- Howieson, J.G., DeMeyer, S.E., Vivas-Marfisi, A., Ratnayake, S., Ardley, J.K., Yates, R.J. (2013). Novel *Burkholderia* bacteria isolated from *Lebeckia ambigua* a perennial suffrutescent legume of the fynbos. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*. 60, 55-64.
- Howieson, J.G. and Dilworth, M.J. (2016). Working with rhizobia. *Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research*: Canberra.

Hunter, W.J., Kuykendall, L.D., Manter, D.K. (2007). *Rhizobium selenireducens* sp. nov., a selenite-reducing -Proteobacteria isolated from a bioreactor. *Current Opinion in Microbiology*. 55, 455- 460.

- Ivanova, E.G., Doronina, N.V., Trotsenko, Y.A. (2001). Aerobic *Methylobacteria* are capable of synthesizing auxins. *Microbiology*. 70, 392-397.
- Ito, H. and Iizuka, H. (1971). Taxonomic studies on a radio-resistant Pseudomonas XII. Studies on the microorganisms of cereal grain. *Agricultural and Biological Chemistry*, 35, 1566-1571.
- Jaftha, J.B., Strijdom, B.W., Steyn, P.L. (2002) Characterization of pigmented methylotrophic bacteria which nodulate *Lotononis bainesii*. *Systematic and Applied Microbiology*. 25, 440-449.
- Jain, C., Rodriguez-R, L.M., Phillippy, A.M., Konstantinidis, K.T., Aluru, S. (2018). High throughput ANI analysis of 90K prokaryotic genomes reveals clear species boundaries. *Nature Communications*. 9, 5114-5122.
- Janda, J.M. and Abbott, S.L. (2007). 16S rRNA gene sequencing for bacterial identification in the diagnostic laboratory: Pluses, perils, and pitfalls. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*. 45, 2761-2764.
- Jarman, K.H., Cebula S.T., Saenz, A.J., Petersen, C.E., Valentine, N.B., Kingsley, M.T., Wahl, K.L. (2000). An algorithm for automated bacterial identification using matrixassisted laser desorption/ionization mass spectrometry. *Analytical Chemistry*. 72, 1217-1223.
- Jarvis, B.D.W., Van Berkum, P., Chen, W.X., Nour, S.M., Fernandez, M.P., Cleyet-Marel, J.C., Gillis, M. (1997). Transfer of *Rhizobium loti*, *Rhizobium huakuii*, *Rhizobium ciceri*, *Rhizobium mediterraneum*, and *Rhizobium tianshanense* to *Mesorhizobium* gen. nov. *International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology*. 47, 895-898.
- Jones, R.T., Robeson, M.S., Lauber, C.L., Hamady, M., Knight, R., Fierer, N. (2009). A comprehensive survey of soil acidobacterial diversity using pyrosequencing and clone library analyses. *International Society for Microbial Ecology Journal*. 3, 442-453.
- Jordan, D.C. (1982). Transfer of *Rhizobium japonicum* Buchanan 1980 to *Bradyrhizobium* gen. nov., a genus of slow-growing, root nodule bacteria from leguminous plants. *International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology*. 32, 136-139.
- Jourand, P., Giraud, E., Béna, G., Sy, A., Dreyfus, B., de Lajudie, P., Willems, A., and Gillis, M. (2004). *Methylobacterium nodulans* sp. nov. for a group of aerobic, facultatively methylotrophic, legume root-noduleforming and nitrogen-fixing bacteria. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*. 54, 2269-2273.

- Jourand, P., Renier, A., Rapior, S., de Faria, S.M., Prin, Y., Galiana, A., Giraud, E., Dreyfus,
 B. (2005). Role of methylotrophy during symbiosis between *Methylobacterium nodulans* and *Crotalaria podocarpa*. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions*. 18, 1061-1068.
- Kaneko, M. and Hiraishi, A. (1991). Physico-chemical and microbiological research on pink-coloured aggregates found in a potable water treatment and distribution system. *Journal of Japanese Water Works Association*. 60, 23-34.
- Kang, Y.S., Kim, J., Shin, H.D., Nam, Y.D., Bae, J.W., Jeon, C. O., Park, W. (2007). *Methylobacterium platani* sp. nov. isolated from a leaf of the tree *Platanus orientalis*. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*. 57, 2849-2853.
- Katoh, K. and Toh, H. (2008). Improved accuracy of multiple ncRNA alignment by incorporating structural information into a MAFFT-based framework. *BioMed Central Bioinformatics*. 9, 212.
- Kayasth, M., Kumar, V., Gera, R. (2014). *Gordonia* sp., a salt tolerant bacterial inoculant for growth promotion of pearl millet under saline soil conditions. *3 Biotech.* 4, 553-557.
- Kelly, D.P., McDonald, I.R., Wood, A.P. (2014). Family *Methylobacteriaceae*. In: Rosenberg E, DeLong EF, Lory S, Stackebrandt E, Thompson F. The Prokaryotes, Volume 8, Alphaproteobacteria and Betaproteobacteria. *Berlin Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag*. 313-340.
- Knief, C., Frances, L., Vorholt, J.A. (2010). Competitiveness of diverse *Methylobacterium* strains in the phyllosphere of *Arabidopsis thaliana* and identification of representative models, including *M. extorquens* PA1. *Microbial Ecology*. 60, 440-452.
- Konstantinidis, K.T. and Tiedje, J.M. (2005a). Towards a genome-based taxonomy for prokaryotes. *Journal* of *Bacteriology*. 187, 6258-6264.
- Konstantinidis, K.T. and Tiedje, J.M. (2005b). Genomic insights that advance the species definition for prokaryotes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* .102, 2567-2572
- Konstantinidis, K.T., Ramette, A., Tiedje, J.M. (2006). Toward a more robust assessment of intraspecies diversity, using fewer genetic markers. *Applied Environmental Microbiology*. 72, 7286-7293.

- Kovaleva, J., Degener, J.E., van der Mei, H.C. (2014). *Methylobacterium* and its role in health care-associated infection. *Journal* of *Clinical Microbiology*. 52, 1317-1321.
- Kumar S., Stecher, G., Tamura, K. (2016). Molecular evolutionary genetics analysis version7.0 for bigger datasets. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*. 33, 1870-1874.
- Kutschera, U. and Niklas, K.J. (2005). Endosymbiosis, cell evolution, and speciation. *Theory in Biosciences*. 124, 1-24.
- Kutschera, U. (2007). Plant-associated methylobacteria as co-evolved phytosymbionts. *Plant Signaling and Behavior*. 2, 74-78.
- Lacava, P.T., Araujo, W.L., Marcon, J., Maccheroni, W., Azevedo, J.L. (2004). Interaction between endophytic bacteria from citrus plants and the phytopathogenic bacteria *Xylella fastidiosa*, causal agent of citrus-variegated chlorosis. *Letters in Applied Microbiology*. 39, 55-59.
- Lai, C.C., Cheng, A., Liu, W.L., Tan, C.K., Huang, Y.T., Chung, K.P., Lee, M.R., Hsueh, P.R. (2011). Infections caused by unusual *Methylobacterium* species. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*. 49, 3329-3331.
- Lardi, M., Bolzan de Campos, S., Purtschert, G., Eberl, L., Pessi, G. (2017). Competition experiments for legume infection identify *Burkholderia phymatum* as a highly competitive rhizobium. *Frontiers in Microbiology*. 8, 1527.
- Lee, S.W., Oh, H.W., Lee, K.H., Ahn, T.Y. (2009). *Methylobacterium dankookense* sp. nov. isolated from drinking water. *The Journal of Microbiology*. 47, 716-720.
- Lehmann, K.B., and Neumann, R.O. (1896). Atlas and Grundriss der Bakteriologie und Lehrbuch der speziellen bakteriologischen Diagnostik, Teil II, p. 1-448 (p. 363), Munchen (cited from Index Bergeyana, 1966. Buchanan, R.E., Holt, J.G., and Lessei, E.F., Jr. (eds). 1-1472.
- Lemaire, B., Dlodlo, O., Chimphango, S., Stirton, C., Schrire, B., Boatwright, J.S., Honnay, O., Smets, E., Sprent, J., James, E.K., Muasya, A.M. (2015). Symbiotic diversity, specificity and distribution of rhizobia in native legumes of the Core Cape Subregion (South Africa). *Federation of European Microbiological Societies Microbiology Ecology*. 91, 1-17.
- Lemaire, B., Chimphango, S.B.M., Stirton, C., Rafudeen, S., Honnay, O., Smets, E., Chen, W.M., Sprent, J., James, E.K., Muasya, A.M. (2016). Biogeographical patterns of legume-nodulating *Burkholderia* spp. from African fynbos to continental scales. *Applied Environmental Microbiology*. 82, 5099-5115.

- Lidstrom M.E. (2006). Aerobic Methylotrophic Prokaryotes. In: Dworkin M., Falkow S., Rosenberg E., Schleifer KH., Stackebrandt E. (eds) The Prokaryotes. *Springer, New York*, NY. 618-634.
- Long, S.R. (1989). Rhizobium-legume nodulation: Life together in the underground. *Cell*. 56, 203-214.
- Long, S.R. and Staskawicz, B. J. (1993). Prokaryotic plant parasites. Cell. 73, 921-935.
- Madhaiyan, M., Kim B., Poonguzhali, S., Kwon, S., Song, M., Ryu, J., Go, S., Koo, B., Sa, T. (2007). *Methylobacterium oryzae* sp. nov., an aerobic, pink-pigmented, facultatively methylotrophic, 1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylate deaminaseproducing bacterium isolated from rice. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*. 57, 326-331.
- Madhaiyan, M., Poonguzhali, S., Senthilkumar, M., Lee, J.S., Lee, K.C. (2012). *Methylobacterium gossipiicola sp.* nov., a pink-pigmented, facultatively methylotrophic bacterium isolated from the cotton phyllosphere. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*. 62, 162-167.
- Madhaiyan, M. and Poonguzhali, S. (2013). *Methylobacterium pseudosasae* sp. nov., a pinkpigmented, facultatively methylotrophic bacterium isolated from the bamboo phyllosphere. *Antonie van Leeuwenhoek*. 105, 367-376.
- Madhaiyan, M. and Poonguzhali, S. (2014). Methylobacterium pseudosasicola sp. nov., and Methylobacterium phyllostachyos sp. nov. isolated from bamboo leaf surfaces. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology. 64, 2376-84.
- Madigan, M. and Martinko, J. (2005). Brock biology of microorganisms (11th ed). *International Microbiology*. 8, 149-152.
- Madsen, E.B., Antolin-Llovera, M., Grossmann, C., Ye, J., Vieweg, S., Broghammer, A. (2010). The molecular network governing nodule organogenesis and infection in the model legume *Lotus japonicus*. *Nature Communication*. 1, 10-22.
- Margulis, L. (1993). Origin of species: Symbiosis in cell evolution. Biosystems. 31, 121-125.
- Maroti, G. and Kondorosi, E. (2014). Nitrogen-fixing *Rhizobium*-legume symbiosis: are polyploidy and host peptide governed symbiont differentiation general principles of endosymbiosis? *Frontiers in Microbiology*. 5, 326-332.
- Martens, M., Dawyndt, P., Coopman, R., Gillis, M., De Vos, P., Willems, A. (2008). Advantages of multilocus sequence analysis for taxonomic studies: A case study

using 10 housekeeping genes in the genus *Ensifer* (including former *Sinorhizobium*). *International Journal of Systematic* and *Evolutionary Microbiology*. 58, 200-214.

- Martens, M., Delaere, M., Coopman, R., De Vos, P., Gillis, M., Willems, A. (2007). Multilocus sequence analysis of *Ensifer* and related taxa. *International Journal of Systematic* and *Evolutionary Microbiology*. 57, 489-503.
- Martínez-Hidalgo, P. and Hirsch, A.M. (2017). The nodule microbiome: N2-fixing rhizobia do not live alone. *Phytobiomes*, 1, 70-82.
- McDonald, I.R., Doronina, N.V., Trotsenko, Y.A., McAnulla, C., Murrell, J.C. (2001). *Hyphomicrobium chloromethanicum* sp. nov., and *Methylobacterium chloromethanicum* sp. nov. chloromethane-utilizing bacteria isolated from a polluted environment. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*. 51, 119-122.
- Meier-Kolthoff, J., Goker, M., Sproer, C., Klenk, H.P. (2013). When should a DDH experiment be mandatory in microbial taxonomy? *Archives of Microbiology*. 195, 413-418.
- Michod, R.E., Bernstein, H., Nedelcu, A.M. (2008). Adaptive value of sex in microbial pathogens. *Infection, Genetics and Evolution*. 8, 267-85.
- Miller, J.M. and Rhoden D.L. (1991). Preliminary evaluation of Biolog, a carbon source utilization method for bacterial identification. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*. 29, 1143-1147.
- Miller, C.S., Handley, K.M., Wrighton, K.C., Frischkorn, K.R., Thomas, B.C., Banfield, J.F. (2013). Short-read assembly of full-length 16S amplicons reveals bacterial diversity in subsurface sediments. *Public Library of Science ONE*. 8, 56018.
- Moosvi, S.A., McDonald, I.R., Pearce, D.A., Kelly, D.P., Wood, A.P. (2005). Molecular detection and isolation from Antarctica of methylotrophic bacteria able to grow with methylated sulfur compounds. *Systematic and Applied Microbiology*. 28, 541-554.
- Moulin, L., Munive, A., Dreyfus, B., Boivin-Masson, C. (2001). Nodulation of legumes by members of the -subclass of Proteobacteria. *Nature*. 411, 948-950.
- Moulin, L., Be´na, G., Boivin-Masson, C., Stepkowski, T. (2004). Phylogenetic analyses of symbiotic nodulation genes support vertical and lateral gene co-transfer within the *Bradyrhizobium* genus. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution*. 30, 720-732.
- Muema, E.K., Cadisch, G., Musyoki, M.K., Rasche, F. (2016). Dynamics of bacterial and archaeal *amoA* gene abundance after additions of organic inputs combined with

mineral nitrogen to an agricultural soil. *Journal of Nutrient Cycling in* Agroecosystems. 104, 143-158.

- Mousavi, S.A., Willems, A., Nesme, X., de Lajudie, P., Lindstrom, K. (2015). Revised phylogeny of Rhizobiaceae: Proposal of the delineation of *Pararhizobium* gen. nov., and 13 new species combinations. *Systematic and Applied Microbiology*. 38, 84-90
- Mus, F., Crook, M.B., Garcia, K., Garcia Costas, A., Geddes, B.A., Kouri, E.D., Paramasivan, P., Ryu, M.H., Oldroyd, G.E.D., Poole, P.S., Udvardi, M.K., Voigt, C.A., Ané, J.M., Peters, J.W. (2016). Symbiotic nitrogen fixation and the challenges to its extension to nonlegumes. *Applied Environmental Microbiology*. 82, 3698-3710.
- Nei, M. and Kumar, S. (2000). Molecular evolution and phylogenetics. *Oxford University Press*, New York.
- Nishiguchi, M.K. and Nair, V.S. (2003). Evolution of symbiosis in the *Vibrionaceae*: a combined approach using molecules and physiology. *International Journal of Systematic* and *Evolutionary Microbiology*. 53, 2019-2026.
- Oldroyd, G.E. and Downie, J.A. (2008). Coordinating nodule morphogenesis with rhizobial infection in legumes. *Annual Review of Plant Biology*. 59, 519-46.
- Oldroyd, G.E.D. (2013). Speak, friend, and enter signalling systems that promote beneficial symbiotic associations in plants. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*.11, 252-63
- Omer, Z.S., Tombolini, R., Gerhardson B. (2004). Plant colonization by pink-pigmented facultative methylotrophic bacteria (PPFMs). *Federation of European Microbiological Societies Microbiology Ecology*. 47, 319-32.
- Parker, M.A. (2001). Mutualism as a constraint on invasion success for legumes and rhizobia. *Diversity and Distributions*. 7, 125-136.
- Park, C., Lee, Y.S., Park, S.Y., Park, W. (2018). *Methylobacterium currus* sp. isolated from a car air conditioning system. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*. 68, 3621-3626.
- Patt, T.E., Cole, G.C. Hanson, R.S. (1976). *Methylobacterium*, a new genus of facultatively methylotrophic bacteria. *International Journal of Systematic* and *Evolutionary Microbiology*. 26, 226-229.
- Pirttilä, A.M., Laukkanen, H., Pospiech, H., Myllylä, R., Hohtola, A. (2000). Detection of intracellular bacteria in the buds of Scotch pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) by in situ hybridization. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*. 66, 3073-3077.

- Pule-Meulenberg, F., Belane, A.K., Krasova-Wade, T., Dakora, F.D. (2010). Symbiotic functioning and bradyrhizobial biodiversity of cowpea (*Vigna unguiculata* L. Walp.) in Africa. *BioMed Central Microbiology*. 10, 89.
- Rasche, F., Knapp, D., Kaiser, C., Koranda, M., Kitzler, B., Zechmeister- Boltenstern, S., Richter, A., Sessitsch, A. (2011). Seasonality and resource availability control bacterial and archaeal communities in soils of a temperate beech forest. *International Society for Microbial Ecology Journal*. 5, 389-402
- Ratzke, C. and Gore, J. (2018). Modifying and reacting to the environmental pH can drive bacterial interactions. *Public Library of Science Biology*. 16, 1-20.
- Renier, A., Jourand, P., Rapior, S., Poinsot, V., Sy, A., Dreyfus, B., Moulin, L. (2008). Symbiotic properties of *Methylobacterium nodulans* ORS 2060^(T): A classic process for an atypical symbiont. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*. 40, 1404-1412.
- Remigi, P., Zhu, J., Young, J.P.W., Masson-Boivin, C. (2016). Symbiosis within symbiosis: evolving nitrogen-fixing legume symbionts. *Trends in Microbiology*. 24, 63-75.
- Rice, E.W., Reasoner, D.J., Johnson, C.H., De Maria, L.A. (2000). Monitoring for *Methylobacteria* in water systems. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*. 38, 4296-4297.
- Rodríguez-Echeverría, S., Moreno, S., Bedmar, E.J. (2014). Genetic diversity of root nodulating bacteria associated with *Retama sphaerocarpa* in sites with different soil and environmental conditions. *Systematic and Applied Microbiology*. 37, 305-310.
- Rogel, M.A., Hernández-Lucas, I., Kuykendall, L.D., Balkwill, D.L., and Martínez-Romero, E. (2001). Nitrogen-fixing nodules with *Ensifer adhaerens* harboring Rhizobium tropici symbiotic plasmids. *Applied* and *Environmental Microbiology*. 67, 3264-3268.
- Rolfe, B.G. and Gresshoff, P.M. (1988). Genetic analysis of legume nodule initiation. Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology. 39, 297-319.
- Román-Ponce, B., Zhang, J.Y., Vásquez-Murrieta, M.S., Sui, X.H., Chen, W.F., Padilla, J.C.A., Gao, J.L., Yan, J., Wei, G.H., Wang, E.T. (2016). *Rhizobium acidisoli* sp. nov. isolated from root nodules of *Phaseolus vulgaris* in acid soils. *International Journal of Systematic* and *Evolutionary Biology*. 66, 398-406.
- Rong, X. and Huang, Y. (2012). Taxonomic evaluation of the *Streptomyces hygroscopicus* clade using multilocus sequence analysis and DNA-DNA hybridization, validating the MLSA scheme for systematics of the whole genus. *Systematic and Applied Microbiology*. 35, 7-18.

- Rossello -Mora, R. and Amann, R. (2001). The species concept for prokaryotes. *Federation* of European Microbiological Societies Microbiology Reviews. 25, 39-67.
- Rossello'-Mo'ra, R. (2006). DNA-DNA reassociation methods applied to microbial taxonomy and their critical evaluation. In: Stackebrandt, E. (ed) Molecular identification, systematics, and population structure of prokaryotes. *Springer, Berlin*, 23-50.
- Sahgal, M. and Johri, B.N. (2003). The changing face of rhizobial systematics. *Current Science in India*. 84, 43-48.
- Samba, R.T., De Lajudie, P., Gillis, M., Neyra, M., Spencer-Barreto, M.M., Dreyfus, B. (1999). Diversity of rhizobia nodulating *Crotalaria* spp. from Senegal. *Symbiosis*. 27, 259-268.
- Sawana, A., Adeolu, M., Gupta, R.S. (2014). Molecular signatures and phylogenomic analysis of the genus *Burkholderia*: proposal for division of this genus into the emended genus *Burkholderia* containing pathogenic organisms and a new genus *Paraburkholderia* gen. nov. harboring environmental species. *Frontiers in Genetics*. 5, 429.
- Schauer, S. and Kutschera, U. (2011). A novel growth-promoting microbe, *Methylobacterium funariae* sp. nov. isolated from the leaf surface of a common moss. *Plant Signaling and Behavior*. 6, 510-515.
- Schildkraut C.L., Marmur J., Doty P. (1961). The formation of hybrid DNA molecules and their use in studies of DNA homologies. *Journal* of *Molecular Biology*. 3, 595-617.
- Smercina, D.N., Evans, S.E., Friesen, M.L., Tiemann, L.K. (2019). To fix or not to fix: Controls on free-living nitrogen fixation in the rhizosphere. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*. 85, 02546-02468.
- Sofi, M.H., Gudi, R.R., Karumuthil-Melethil, S., Perez, N., Johnson, B.M., Vasu, C. (2013). pH of drinking water influences the composition of gut microbiome and type 1 diabetes incidence. *Diabetes*. 63, 632-644.
- Somasegaran, P. and Hoben, H.J. (1994). Handbook for Rhizobia methods in legume rhizobium technology. *Springer-Verlag*. 450.
- Spaink, H. P. (2000). Root nodulation and infection factors produced by rhizobial bacteria. *Annual Review of Microbiology*. 54, 257-288.
- Stackebrandt, E., Murray, R.G.E., Truper, H.G. (1988). Proteobacteria classis nov., a name for the phylogenetic taxon that includes the `purple bacteria and their relatives'. *International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology*. 38, 321-325.

- Stackebrandt, E. (1992) Unifying phylogeny and phenotypic diversity. In: The Prokaryotes (Balows, A., Truper, H.G., Dworkin, M., Harder, W. and Schleifer, K.H., Eds.). *Springer-Verlag*, New York. 19-47.
- Stackebrandt, E. and Goebel, B.M. (1994). A place for DNA-DNA reassociation and 16S rRNA sequence analysis in the present species definition in bacteriology. *International Journal of Systematic* and *Evolutionary Microbiology*. 44, 846-849.
- Stackebrandt, E., Frederikden, W., Garrity, G., Kampfer, P., Mai den, X., Nesme, X., Rossello-Mora, R., Swing, J., Truper, H.G., Vauterin, L., Ward, A.C., Whitman, W.B. (2002). Report of the adoc committee for the re-evaluation of the species definition in. *International Journal of Systematic* and *Evolutionary Microbiology*. 52, 1043-1047.
- Stackebrandt, E. (2003). The richness of prokaryotic diversity: there must be a species somewhere. *Food Technology and Biotechnology*. 41, 17-22.
- Stackebrandt, E. and Ebers, J. (2006). Taxonomic parameters revisited: Tarnished gold standards. *Microbiology Today*. 33,152-155
- Steenkamp, E.T., Stępkowski, T., Przymusiak, A., Botha, W.J., Law, I.J. (2008). Cowpea and peanut in southern Africa are nodulated by diverse *Bradyrhizobium* strains harboring nodulation genes that belong to the large pantropical clade common in Africa. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution*. 48, 1131-1144.
- Subramanian, S., Stacey, G., Yu, O. (2006). Endogenous isoflavones are essential for the establishment of symbiosis between soybean and *Bradyrhizobium japonicum*. The *Plant Journal*. 48, 261-273.
- Sy, A., Giraud, E., Jourand, P., Garcia, N., Willems, A., de Lajudie, P., Prin, Y., Neyra, M., Gillis, M., BoivinMasson, C., Dreyfus, B. (2001). Methylotrophic *Methylobacterium* bacteria nodulate and fix nitrogen in symbiosis with legumes. *Journal* of *Bacteriology*. 183, 214-220.
- Sy, A., Timmers, A.C.J., Knief, C., Vorholt, J.A. (2005). Methylotrophic metabolism is advantageous for *Methylobacterium extorquens* during colonization of *Medicago truncatula* under competitive conditions. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*. 71, 7245-7252.
- Tamura, K. (1992). Estimation of the number of nucleotide substitutions when there are strong transition-transversion and G + C-content biases. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*. 9, 678-687.

- Tamura, K. and Nei, M. (1993). Estimation of nucleotide substitutions in the control region of mitochondrial DNA in humans and chimpanzees. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*. 10, 512-526.
- Tang, Y.W., Ellis, N.M., Hopkins, M.K., Dodge, D.E., Persing, D.H. (1989). Comparison of phenotypic and genotypic techniques of identification of unusual aerobic pathogenic Gram-negative *Bacilli. Journal of Clinical Microbiology*. 3674-3679.
- Tani, A., Sahin, N., Matsuyama, Y., Enomoto, T., Nishimura, N., Yokota, A., Kimbara, K. (2012). High-throughput identification and screening of novel *Methylobacterium* species using whole-cell MALDI-TOF/MS analysis. *Public Library of Science ONE*. 7, 1-13
- Tani, A. and Sahin, N. (2013). Methylobacterium haplocladii sp. nov., and Methylobacterium brachythecii sp. nov. isolated from bryophytes. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology. 63, 3287-3292.
- Thompson, F.L., Gevers, D., Thompson, C.C., Dawyndt, P., Naser, S., Hoste, B., Munn, C.B., Swings, J. (2005). Phylogeny and molecular identification of vibrios on the basis of multilocus sequence analysis. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*. 71, 5107-5115.
- Thompson, F.L., Gomez-Gil, B., Vasconcelos, A.T.R., Sawabe, T. (2007). Multilocus sequence analysis reveals that *Vibrio harveyi* and *V. campbellii* are distinct species. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*. 73, 4279-4285.
- Tracz, D.M., Backhouse, P.G., Olson, A.B., McCrea, J.K., Walsh, J.A., Gilmour, M.W. (2007). Rapid detection of *Vibrio* species using liquid microsphere arrays and realtime PCR targeting the *ftsZ* locus. *Journal of Medical. Microbiology*. 56, 56–65.
- Trüper, H.G. (1987). Phototrophic bacteria (an incoherent group of prokaryotes). A taxonomic versus phylogenetic survey. *Microbiologia*. 3, 71-89.
- Urakami, T. and Komagata, K. (1984) Protomonas, a new genus of facultatively methylotrophic bacteria. International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology. 34, 188-201
- Urakami, T., Araki, H., Suzuki, K.I., Komagata, K. (1993). Further studies of the genus Methylobacterium and description of Methylobacterium aminovorans sp. nov. International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology. 43, 504-513.
- Van Aken, B., Yoon, J.M., Schnoor, J.L. (2004). Biodegradation of nitro-substituted explosives 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene, hexahydro-1,3,5-trinitro-1,3,5-triazine, an octahydro-1,3,5,7-tetranitro-1,3,5-tetrazocine by a phytosymbiotic

Methylobacterium sp. associated with poplar tissues (*Populus deltoides* x nigra DN34). *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*. 70, 508-517.

- Van Dien, S.J., Marx, C.J., O'Brien, B.N., Lidstrom, M.E. (2003). Genetic characterization of the carotenoid biosynthetic pathway in *Methylobacterium extorquens* AM1 and isolation of a colorless mutant. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*. 69,7563-7566
- van Rhijn, P., Fujishige, N. A., Lim, P. O., and Hirsch, A. M. (2001). Sugarbinding activity of pea lectin enhances heterologous infection of transgenic alfalfa plants by *Rhizobium leguminosarum biovar viciae*. *Plant Physiology*. 126, 133-144.
- Verma, D.P.S. and Long, S. (1983). The molecular biology of Rhizobium-legume symbiosis. *International Review of Cytology*. 14, 211-245.
- Venter, S.N., Palmer, M., Beukes, C.W., Chan, W., Shin, G., van Zyl, E., Seale, T., Coutinho, T.A., Steenkamp, E.T. (2016). Practically delineating bacterial species with genealogical concordance. *Antonie van Leeuwenhoek*. 110, 1311-1325.
- Veyisoglu, A., Camas, M., Tatar, D., Guven, K., Sazak, A., Sahin, N. (2013). Methylobacterium tarhaniae sp. nov. isolated from arid soil. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology. 63, 2823-2828.
- Vincent, J.M. (1970). A manual for the practical study of the root-nodule bacteria. In: IBP Handbook No. 15, *Black Well Scientific Publications*, Oxford. 164.
- Vorholt, J.A. (2002). Cofactor-dependent pathways of formaldehyde oxidation in methylotrophic bacteria. *Archives of Microbiology*. 178, 239-249.
- Wang, X., Sahr, F., Xue, T., Sun, B. (2007). Methylobacterium salsuginis sp. nov. isolated from seawater. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology. 57, 1699-1703.
- Wayne, L.G., Brenner, D.J., Colwell, R.R., Grimont, P.A.D., Kandler, O., Krichevsky, M.I., Moore, L.H., Moore, W.E.C., Murray, R., Stackebrandt, E.S.M.P., Starr, M.P. (1987). Report of the ad hoc committee on reconciliation of approaches to bacterial systematics. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*. 37, 463-464.
- Welker, M. and Moore, E.R. (2011). Applications of whole-cell matrix-assisted laserdesorption/ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry in systematic microbiology. Systematic and Applied Microbiology. 34, 2-11.
- Wellner, S., Lodders, N., Glaeser, S.P., Kämpfer, P. (2013). Methylobacterium trifolii sp. nov., and Methylobacterium thuringiense sp. nov. methanol-utilizing, pink-

pigmented bacteria isolated from leaf surfaces. *International Journal of Systematic* and Evolutionary Microbiology. 63, 2690-2699.

- Weon, H.Y., Kim, B.Y., Joa, J.H., Son, J.A., Song, M.H., Kwon, S.W., Go, S.J., Yoon, S.H. (2008). *Methylobacterium iners* sp. nov., and *Methylobacterium aerolatum* sp. nov. isolated from air samples in Korea. *International Journal of Systematic* and *Evolutionary Microbiology*. 58,93-96.
- Werle, E., Schneider, C., Renner, M. (1994). Convenient single step, one tube purification of PCR products for direct sequencing. *Nucleic Acids Research*. 22, 4354-4355.
- Willems, A., Fernández-López, M., Muñoz-Adelantado, E., Goris, J., De Vos, P., Martínez-Romero, E., Toro, N., Gillis, M. (2003). Description of new *Ensifer* strains from nodules and proposal to transfer *Ensifer adhaerens* (1982) to *Sinorhizobium* as *Sinorhizobium adhaerens* comb. nov. Request for an opinion. *International Journal* of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology. 53, 1207-1217.
- Willems, A. (2006). The taxonomy of rhizobia: An overview. Plant Soil. 287, 3-14
- Williams, P., Coates, L., Mohammed, F., Gill, R., Erskine, P. (2006). The 1.6A X-ray structure of the unusual c-type cytochrome, cytochrome cL, from the methylotrophic bacterium *Methylobacterium extorquens*. *Journal of Molecular Biology*. 357, 151-162.
- Woese, C.R. (1987). Bacterial evolution. *Microbiological Reviews*. 51, 221-271.
- Woese, C.R., Stackebrandt, E., Macke, R.J., Fox, G.E. (1985) A phylogenetic definition of the major eubacterial taxa. *Systematic and Applied Microbiology*. 6, 143-151.
- Wolfrum, T., Gruner, G., Stolp, H. (1986). Nucleic acid hybridization of pink-pigmented facultative methylotrophs and pseudomonads. *International Journal Systematic Bacteriology*. 36, 24-28.
- Yan, H., Yan, J., Sui, X.H., Wang, E.T., Chen, W.X., Zhang, X.X., Chen, W.F. (2016). Ensifer glycinis sp. nov., a novel rhizobial species associated with Glycine spp. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology. 66, 2910-2916
- Yano, T., Kubota, H., Hanai, J., Hitomi, J., Tokuda, H. (2013). Stress tolerance of *Methylobacterium* biofilms in bathrooms. *Microbes and Environments*. 28, 87-95.
- Yang, Q., Porter, A.J., Zhang, M., Harrington, D. J., Black, G. W., Sutcliffe, I. C. (2012). The impact of pH and nutrient stress on the growth and survival of *Streptococcus agalactiae*. *Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek*. 102, 277-287.
- Yates, R.J., Howieson, J.G., Reeve, W.G., Nandasena, K.G., Law, I.J., Brau, L., Ardley, J.K., Nistelberger, H.M., Real, D., O'Hara, G.W. (2007). *Lotononis angolensis* forms

nitrogen fixing lupinoid nodules with phylogenetically unique, fast-growing, pinkpigmented bacteria, which do not nodulate *L. bainesii* or *L listii*. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*. 39, 1680-1688.

- Yim, W.J., Poonguzhali, S., Deka Boruah, H.P., Palaniappan, P., Sa, T.M. (2010). Colonization pattern of gfp tagged *Methylobacterium suomiens* on rice and tomato plant root and leaf surfaces. In 19th World Congress of Soil Science, *Soil Solutions for a Changing World*, Brisbane, Australia.
- You, F.M., Huo, N., Gu, Y.Q., Luo, M.C., Ma, Y., Hane, D., Lazo, G.R., Dvorak, J., Anderson, O.D. (2008). BatchPrimer3: a high throughput web application for PCR and sequencing primer design. *BioMed Central Bioinformatics*, 9, 253.
- Young, J.P.W. and Haukka, K.E. (1996). Diversity and phylogeny of rhizobia. *New Phytologist.* 133, 87-94.
- Young, J.M. (2003) The genus name Ensifer Casida (1982) takes priority over Sinorhizobium Chen et al., (1988), and Sinorhizobium morelense Wang et al., (2002) is a later synonym of Ensifer adhaerens Casida 1982. Is the combination 'Sinorhizobium adhaerens' (Casida 1982) Willems et al., 2003 legitimate? Request for an opinion. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology. 53, 2107-2110.
- Zakhia, F. and de Lajudie, P. (2001). Taxonomy of rhizobia. Agrononomy 21: 569-576.
 Jordan, D. C. (1982). Transfer of *Rhizobium japonicum* Buchanan 1980 to *Bradyrhizobium* gen. nov., a genus of slow-growing, root nodule bacteria from leguminous plants. *International Journal of Systematic* and *Evolutionary Bacteriology*. 32, 136-139.
- Zakhia, F., Jeder, H., Willems, A., Dreyfus, B., de Lajudie, P. (2006). Diverse bacteria associated with root nodules of spontaneous legumes in Tunisia and first report for *nifH*-like gene within the genera Micro-bacterium and Starkeya. *Microbiology Ecology*, 51, 375-93.
- Zeigler, D.R. (2003). Gene sequences useful for predicting relatedness of whole genomes in bacteria. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology. 53, 1893-1900.

Zhang, Y.M., Li, Y.J., Chen, W.F., Wang, E.T., Sui, X.H., Li, Q.Q., Zhang, Y.Z., Zhou, Y.G., Chen, W.X. (2012). *Bradyrhizobium huanghuaihaiense* sp nov., an effective symbiotic bacterium isolated from soybean (Glycine max L.) nodules. *International Journal of Systematic* and *Evolutionary Microbiology*. 62, 1951-1957.

Appendices



Figure 2.1. Rhizobium -legume symbiosis model (Gonzalez and Marketon, 2003).



Figure 2.2: The relationship between a bacterial cell of a diazotroph and a nodulating plant cell during nitrogen fixation (Mus *et al.*, 2016).



Figure 2.3: Simplified 16S rRNA based neighbour-joining phylogenetic tree, using type strain sequences of the genera proteobacteria (Garrity, 2011).



Figure 2.4: How carbon is converted in *Methylobacterium* when methylotrophic growth occurs (Sy *et al.*, 2005).

Figure 4.1: Phylogenetic tree based on *16S rRNA* (1500 bp) gene sequences, showing the taxonomic position of *Crotalaria* and *Listia* host specific strains. Bootstrap values are shown at the nodes. The 16S rRNA of *Methylobacterium salsuginis, Methylobacterium platani*, and *Methylobacterium populi* were used as outgroups. The GenBank accession numbers of each reference and outgroup sequences strains are shown in the parentheses.



Figure 4.1: Phylogenetic tree based on *16S rRNA* (1500 bp) gene sequences, showing the taxonomic position of *Crotalaria* and *Listia* host specific strains. Bootstrap values are shown at the nodes. The 16S rRNA of *Methylobacterium salsuginis, Methylobacterium platani*, and *Methylobacterium populi* were used as outgroups. The GenBank accession numbers of each reference and outgroup sequences strains are shown in the parentheses.



Figure 4.2: The Maximum-likelihood tree based on *rpoB* amino acyl sequences (700-800bp), showing the taxonomic positions of potential new species compared to strains ascribed to the genus *Methylobacterium*. Bootstrap values are shown at the nodes. The *rpoB* of *Methylobacterium salsuginis*, *Methylobacterium platani*, and *Methylobacterium populi* were used as outgroups. The GenBank accession numbers of reference and outgroup sequences strains are shown in the parentheses.



Figure 4.3: Phylogenetic tree based on *recA* amino acyl sequences (400-500bp), showing the taxonomic positions of potential new species compared to strains ascribed to the genus *Methylobacterium*. Bootstrap values are shown at the nodes. The *recA* of *Methylobacterium salsuginis, Methylobacterium platani*, and *Methylobacterium populi* were used as outgroups. The GenBank accession numbers of reference and outgroup sequences strains are shown in the parentheses.


Figure 4.4: Phylogenetic tree based on *atpD* amino acyl sequences (500-600bp), showing the taxonomic positions of potential new species compared to strains ascribed to the genus *Methylobacterium*. Bootstrap values are shown at the nodes. The *atpD* of *Methylobacterium salsuginis*, *Methylobacterium platani*, and *Methylobacterium populi* were used as outgroups. The GenBank accession numbers of reference and outgroup sequences are shown in the parentheses.



0.10

Figure 4.5: Multilocus Sequence Analysis/Concatenated phylogenetic tree consisting of the genes 16S rRNA, *atpD*, *recA*, and *rpoB* data sequences, showing taxonomic positions of the isolates in support of the respective four single phylogenetic trees. The maximum-likelihood tree was constructed using the General Reversible Model (Nei and Kumar, 2000). Bootstrap values are shown at the nodes. The *Methylobacterium salsuginis*, *Methylobacterium platani*, and *Methylobacterium populi* was selected as the outgroup.



Figure 4.6: Multilocus Sequence Analysis/Concatenated phylogenetic tree made up of 16S rRNA, *recA*, and *rpoB* data sequences, showing taxonomic positions of the isolates in support of the four respective single phylogenetic trees. The maximum-likelihood tree was constructed using the General Reversible Model (Nei and Kumar, 2000), Bootstrap values are shown at the nodes. The *Methylobacterium salsuginis*, *Methylobacterium platani*, and *Methylobacterium populi* was selected as the outgroup.

Table 2.1: The presently defined nodulating rhizobia and the number of species each genus contains

Family	Genus	Number of described species
α-Proteobacteria		
Bradyrhizobiaceae	Bradyrhizobium	15
Brucellaceae	Ochrobactrum	2
Hyphomicrobiaceae	Azorhizobium	3
	Devosia	1
Methylobacteriaceae	Methylobacterium	1
	Microvirga	3
Phyllobacteriaceae	Phyllobacterium	1
	Aminobacter	1
	Mesorhizobium	29
Rhizobiaceae	Rhizobium	43
	Neorhizobium	3
	Sinorhizobium/Ensifer	13
	Shinella	1
β-Proteobacteria		
Burkholderiaceae	Paraburkholderia	17
	Cupriavidus	2

Source: (Howieson and Dilworth, 2016; Lardi et al., 2017; Beukes et al., 2017)

16s rRNA identity	Host	168	Reference
		accession	
		number	
M. adhaesivum	Drinking water	AM040156.1	(Gallego et al., 2005)
M. aerolatum	Air	EF174498.1	(Weon et al., 2008)
M. aminovorans	Soil	AB175629.1	(Urakami et al., 1993)
M. aquaticum	Drinking water	AJ635303.1	(Gallego et al., 2005)
M. brachiatum	Water samples food	AB175649.1	(Kato et al., 2008)
	factories		
M. brachythecii	leaves of Brachythecium	AB703239.1	(Tani and Sahin, 2013)
	plumosum		
M. bullatum	leaf of Funaria	FJ268657.1	(Hoppe et al., 2011)
	hygrometrica		
M. cerastii	leaf of Cerastium	FR733885.1	(Wellner et al., 2013)
	holosteoides		
M. chloromethanicum	Soil, polluted environment	CP001298	(McDonald et al., 2001)
M. dankookense	Drinking water	FJ155589.2	(Lee et al., 2009)
М.	Active sludge	AB175631.1	(Dronina et al., 2000)
dichloromethanicum			
M. extorquens	Forest and garden soil	AB175632	(Urakami and
			Komagata, 1984)
M. fujisawaense	Roots of Medicago sativa	AJ250801.1	(Green et al., 1981)
M. gnaphalii	leaves of Gnaphalium	AB627071.1	(Tani et al., 2012)
	spicatum		
M. gossipiicola	Cotton leaf	EU912445.1	(Madhaiyan et al., 2012)
M. gregans	Fresh water samples food	AB252200.1	(Kato <i>et al.</i> , 2008)
	factories		
M. haplocladii	Leaf of Haplocladium	AB698691.1	(Tani and Sahin, 2013)
	microphyllum		
M. hispanicum	Drinking water	AJ635304.1	(Gallego et al., 2005)
M. iners	Air	EF174497.1	(Weon et al., 2008)
M. isbiliense	Drinking water	AJ888239.1	(Gallelo et al., 2005)
M. jeotgali	shrimp jeotgal	DQ471331.1	(Aslam et al., 2007)
M. komagatae	freshwater samples food	AB252201.1	(Kato <i>et al.</i> , 2008)
	factories		
M. longum	phyllosphere of	FN868949.1	(Knief et al., 2010)
	Arabidopsis thaliana		

Table 2.2: Validly published Methylobacterium species

16s rRNA identity	Host	16S	Reference
		accession	
		number	
M. lusitanum	Sewage station	AB175635.1	(Dronina et al., 2000)
M. marchantiae	Phyllosphere of	FJ157976.2	(Schauer et al., 2011)
	Marchantia polymorpha		
M. mesophilicum	leaf of <i>L. perenne</i>	AB175636.1	(Austin and
			Goodfellow, 1979)
M. nodulans	Root nodules of Crotalaria	AF220763.1	(Jourand et al., 2004)
M. organophilum	Lake samples	AB175638.1	(Patt et al., 1979)
M. oryzae	Stem of Oryza sativa L.	AY683045.1	(Madhaiyan et al., 2007)
M. oxalidis	Leaf of Oxalis corniculata	AB607860.2	(Tani et al., 2012)
M. persicinum	Fresh water samples food	AB252202.1	(Kato <i>et al.</i> , 2008)
	factories		
M. phyllosphaerae	Leaf of Oryza sativa L.	EF126746.2	(Madhaiyan et al., 2007)
M. phyllostachyos	Bamboo leaf	EU912444.1	(Madhaiyan et al., 2014)
M. platani	Leaf of Platanus orientalis	EF426729.1	(Kang et al., 2007)
M. podarium	Human foot microflora	AF514774.1	(Anesti et al., 2006)
M. populi	Poplar plantlets / the bark	CP001029	(Van Aken et al., 2004)
	Populus x euramericana		
M. pseudosasae	Bamboo leaf	EU912442.1	(Madhaiyan et al., 2013)
M. pseudosasicola	Bamboo leaf	EU912439.1	(Madhayian et al., 2014)
M. radiotolerans	Rice seeds	D32227.1	(Ito and Lizuka, 1971)
M. rhodesianum	Fermentor	AB175642.1	(Green et al., 1981)
M. rhodinum	Alnus rhizozphere	AB175644.1	(Heumann, 1962)
M. salsuginis	Seawater	EF015478.1	(Wang et al., 2007)
M. soli	Forest soil	EU860984.1	(Cao et al., 2011)
M. suomiense	Soil	AB175645.1	(Doronina et al., 2002)
M. tardum	Fresh water	AB252208.1	(Kato <i>et al.</i> , 2008)
M. tarhaniae	Arid soil	JQ864432.1	(Veyisoglu et al., 2013)
M. thiocyanatum	Rhizosphere of A.	U58018.1	(Wood et al., 1999)
	aflatunese		
M. thuringiense	surface of Cerastium	FR847847.1	(Wellner et al., 2013)
	holosteoides leaf		
M. trifolii	surface of Trifolium repens	FR847848.1	(Wellner et al., 2013)
	leaf		
M.variabile	Drinking water	AJ851087.1	(Gagello et al., 2005)
M. zatmanii	Fermentor	AB175647.1	(Green et al., 1981)

Table 2.2 continued.

#	Isolates	Hosts	Place of collection and/or coordinates
1.	SA 4-2a1(1)	Lotononis spp	N7 4 km pas Klawer
2.	SA 4-2a1(2)	Lotononis spp.	N7 4 km pas Klawer
3.	SA 4-2b1	Lotononis spp	N7 4 km pas Klawer
4.	SA 4-2b2	Lotononis spp	N7 4 km pas Klawer
5.	WC29.6a	Lotononis leptoloba	N7 100 km before Springbok
6.	WC30.1a (1)	Lotononis speciosa	1 km N of Springbok to Pofadder
7.	WC30.1a (2)	Lotononis speciosa	1 km N of Springbok to Pofadder
8.	WC30.1d	Lotononis speciosa	1 km N of Springbok to Pofadder
9.	WC30.1i	Lotononis speciosa	1 km N of Springbok to Pofadder
10.	WC32.a1	Lotononis benthamiana	15 km S of Springbok
11.	WC32.b1	Lotononis benthamiana	15 km S of Springbok
12.	WC32.b2	Lotononis benthamiana	15 km S of Springbok
13.	WC32.c1	Lotononis benthamiana	15 km S of Springbok
14.	WC32.d1	Lotononis benthamiana	15 km S of Springbok
15.	WC32.d2	Lotononis benthamiana	15 km S of Springbok
16.	WC32.b2	Lotononis benthamiana	15 km S of Springbok
17.	WC32c	Lotononis benthamiana	15 km S of Springbok
18.	WC32.a2	Lotononis benthamiana	15 km S of Springbok
19.	WC32.a1	Lotononis benthamiana	15 km S of Springbok
20.	WC32.c1 (1)	Lotononis benthamiana	15 km S of Springbok
21.	WC32.c1 (2)	Lotononis benthamiana	15 km S of Springbok
22.	WC32.c2	Lotononis benthamiana	15 km S of Springbok
23.	WC31.3b	Lotononis benthamiana	15 km S of Springbok
24.	WC33.2b	Lotononis acutiflora	Kamiesberg pass from Kamieskroon
25.	WC33.2c	Lotononis acutiflora	Kamiesberg pass from Kamieskroon
26.	WC33.2d	Lotononis acutiflora	Kamiesberg pass from Kamieskroon
27.	WC33.2e	Lotononis acutiflora	Kamiesberg pass from Kamieskroon
28.	WC34.c	Lotononis acutiflora	Kamiesberg pass from Kamieskroon
29.	WC34.2a1	Lotononis polycephala	Kamiesberg pass from Kamieskroon
30.	WC34.2a2	Lotononis polycephala	Kamiesberg pass from Kamieskroon
31.	WC35.2d (1)	Lotononis polycephala	Kamiesberg pass from Kamieskroon
32	WC35.2d (2)	Lotononid polycephala	Kamiesberg pass from Kamieskroon
33.	WC35.2a (1)	Lotononis Polycephala	Kamiesberg pass from Kamieskroon
34.	WC35.2a (2)	Lotononis polycephala	Kamiesberg pass from Kamieskroon
36.	WC35.2c	Lotononis polycephala	Kamiesberg pass from Kamieskroon

Table 3.1: Bacterial culture isolates used in this study

#	Isolates	Hosts	Place of collection and/or coordinates
37.	WC37.2b	Lotononis delicatula	Top of Kamiesberg Pass
38.	WC37.2c	Lotononis delicatula	Top of Kamiesberg Pass
39.	WC37.2e	Lotononis delicatula	Top of Kamiesberg Pass
40.	WC37.3a	Lotononis branchyantha	Top of Kamiesberg Pass
41.	WC37.3b	Lotononis branchyantha	Top of Kamiesberg Pass
42.	WC37.3c	Lotononis branchyantha	Top of Kamiesberg Pass
43.	WC37.4a	Lotononis rostrata spp	Top of Kamiesberg Pass
		namaquensis	
44.	WC35.1d	Crotalaria namaquensis	Kamiesberg pass from Kamieskroon
45.	SA 44-235c	Crotalaria spp.	Owen Sithole College of Agriculture
46.	SA 44-25ca	Crotalaria spp.	Owen Sithole College of Agriculture
47.	SA 44-2b1 (1)	Cotalaria spp.	Owen Sithole College of Agriculture
48.	SA 44-25ca (2)	Crotalaria spp.	Owen Sithole College of Agriculture
49.	SA 44-2b2 (1)	Crotalaria spp.	Owen Sithole College of Agriculture
50.	SA 44-2b2 (2)	Crotalaria spp.	Owen Sithole College of Agriculture
51.	SA 44-2b2 (3)	Crotalaria spp.	Owen Sithole College of Agriculture
52.	WC34.3a	Lotononis spp.	Kamiesberg pass from Kamieskroon
53.	WC34 c	Lotononis spp	Kamiesberg pass from Kamieskroon
54.	SA 44-2b	Crotalaria spp.	Owen Sithole College of Agriculture
55.	SA53-1b	Crotalaria lotoides	ARC, Roodeplaat
56.	SA53-1a	Crotalaria lotoides	ARC, Roodeplaat
57.	SA53-1c (1)	Crotalaria lotoides	ARC, Roodeplaat
58.	SA53-1c (2)	Crotalaria lotoides	ARC, Roodeplaat
59.	SA53-2b1	Crotalaria lotoides	ARC, Roodeplaat
60.	SA53-2b3	Crotalaria lotoides	ARC, Roodeplaat
61.	WC35.1a	Crotalaria namaquensis	Kamiesberg pass from Kamieskroon
62.	WC35.1d2	Crotalaria namaquensis	Kamiesberg pass from Kamieskroon
63.	SA53 2b3/d3	Crotalaria lotoides	ARC, Roodeplaat
64.	XCT 8	Listia bainesii	South Africa (ARC)
65.	XCT 9	Listia bainesii	South Africa (ARC)
66.	XCT 10	Listia bainesii	East London (ARC)
67.	XCT 12	Listia bainesii	Kwazulu-Natal (ARC)
68.	XCT 13	Listia bainesii	Kwazulu-Natal (ARC)
69.	XCT 14	Listia bainesii	Kwazulu-Natal (ARC)
70.	XCT 16	Listia bainesii	South Africa (ARC)
71.	XCT 17	Listia bainesii	South Africa (ARC)
72.	Crot 99	Crotalaria lotoides	S: 25° 00' 486" E: 30° 29' 982"

Table 3.1 continued.

#	Isolates	Hosts	Place of collection and/or coordinates
73.	Crot 100	Crotalaria lotoides	S: 25° 00' 486" E: 30° 29' 982"
74.	Crot 102	Crotalaria lotoides	S: 25° 00' 486" E: 30° 29' 982"
75.	Crot 103	Crotalaria lotoides	S: 25° 00' 486" E: 30° 29' 982"
76.	Crot 104	Crotalaria lotoides	S: 25° 00' 486" E: 30° 29' 982"
77.	Crot 214	Crotalaria sphaerocarpa	S: 25° 42' 412" E: 27° 57' 406"
78.	Crot 215	Crotalaria sphaerocarpa	S: 25° 42' 412" E: 27° 57' 406"
79.	Crot 216	Crotalaria sphaerocarpa	S: 25° 42' 412" E: 27° 57' 406"
80.	Crot 220	Crotalaria sphaerocarpa	S: 25° 42' 412" E: 27° 57' 406"
81.	Crot 222	Crotalaria sphaerocarpa	S: 25° 42' 412" E: 27° 57' 406"
82.	Crot 223	Crotalaria sphaerocarpa	S: 25° 42' 412" E: 27° 57' 406"
83.	Crot 224	Crotalaria sphaerocarpa	S: 25° 42' 412" E: 27° 57' 406"
84.	WSM 3032	Listia solitudinis	University of Murdoch (South Africa)
85.	WSM 3950	Listia bainessi	University of Murdoch (South Africa)
86.	WSM 3960	Listia bainessi	University of Murdoch (South Africa)
87.	WSM 3962	Listia bainessi	University of Murdoch (South Africa)
88.	WSM 2598	Listia bainessi	University of Murdoch (South Africa)
89.	WSM 3674	Listia bainessi	University of Murdoch (South Africa)
90.	WSM 3686	Listia bainessi	University of Murdoch (South Africa)
91.	WSM 2799	Listia listii	University of Murdoch (South Africa)
92.	WSM 3966	Listia bainesii	University of Murdoch (South Africa)

Table 3.1 continued.

Primer	Sequence	Reference
27F	AGAGTTTGATCMTGGCTCAG	(Miller et al., 2013)
1492R	TACGGYTACCTTGTTACGACTT	
atpD 352F	GGCCGCATCATSAACGTCATC	(Galibert et al., 2001)
atpD 871R	AGAGCCGACACTTCMGARCC	
гроВ 83F	CCTSATCGAGGTTCACAGAAGGC	(Galibert <i>et al.</i> , 2001)
rpoB 1061R	AGCGTGTTGCGGATATAGGCG	
recA F	CAGATCGAGCGCGCCTTCGGCAA	(Ardley et al., 2012)
recA R	ATCTGGTTGATGAAGATCACCAT	

Table 3. 2: PCR Primers used to amplify genes in this study

Table 3.3: List of species and strains (with their genbank references) included in this study

		NCBI reference sequence			
Species Name	Stra	16S rRNA	atpD	recA	rpoB
	in				
Methylobacteriu	CG	NZ_FOSV010	NZ_FOSV010	NZ_FOSV010	NZ_FOSV010
m salsuginis	MC	00008	00004	00002	00026
	С				
Methylobacteriu	SE3.	NZ_JTHG0100	NZ_JTHG0100	NZ_JTHG0100	NZ_JTHG0100
m platani	6	0209	0380	0206	0082
Methylobacteriu	BJ0	NR029082	NC_010725	NC_010725	NZ_AP014809
m populi	01				
Methylobacteriu	ORS	CP001349	CP001349	NC_011894	NC_011894
m nodulans	2060				
Methylobacteriu	4-46	CP000943	CP000943	NC_010511	NC_010511
<i>m</i> sp. 4-46					

	Isolate	Hosts	16S rRNA BLST results	Identity %
1.	SA 4-2a1(1)	Lotononis spp	Neorhizobium	94.85
2.	SA 4-2a1(2)	Lotononis spp.	Neorhizobium	92.28
3.	SA 4-2b1	Lotononis spp	Sphingomonas	91.18
4.	SA 4-2b2	Lotononis spp	Sphingomonas	92.49
5.	WC29.6a	Lotononis leptoloba	Didn't amplify	-
6.	WC30.1a (1)	Lotononis speciosa	Bradyrhizobium	95.24
7.	WC30.1a (2)	Lotononis speciosa	Bradyrhizobium	98.48
8.	WC30.1d	Lotononis speciosa	Didn't amplify	-
9.	WC30.1i	Lotononis speciosa	Didn't amplify	-
10.	WC32.a1	Lotononis benthamiana	Bradyrhizobium	94.13
11.	WC32.b1	Lotononis benthamiana	Mesorhizobium	92.47
12.	WC32.b2	Lotononis benthamiana	Mesorhizobium	94.58
13.	WC32.c1	Lotononis benthamiana	Mesorhizobium	97.30
14.	WC32.d1	Lotononis benthamiana	Mesorhizobium	98.03
15.	WC32.d2	Lotononis benthamiana	Mesorhizobium	96.47
16.	WC32.b2	Lotononis benthamiana	Bradyrhizobium	98.20
17.	WC32c	Lotononis benthamiana	Mesorhizobium	88.70
18.	WC32.a2	Lotononis benthamiana	Bradyrhizobium	98.05
19.	WC32.a1	Lotononis benthamiana	Didn't amplify	-
20.	WC32.c1 (1)	Lotononis benthamiana	Bradyrhizobium	95.36
21.	WC32.c1 (2)	Lotononis benthamiana	Bradyrhizobium	88.90
22.	WC32.c2	Lotononis benthamiana	Bradyrhizobium	98.46
23.	WC31.3b	Lotononis benthamiana	Mesorhizobium	94.25
24.	WC33.2b	Lotononis acutiflora	Mesorhizobium	98.31
25.	WC33.2c	Lotononis acutiflora	Mesorhizobium	96.70
26.	WC33.2d	Lotononis acutiflora	Bradyrhizobium	96.63
27.	WC33.2e	Lotononis acutiflora	Bradyrhizobium	93.46
28.	WC34.c	Lotononis acutiflora	Bradyrhizobium	91.51
29.	WC34.2a1	Lotononis polycephala	Bradyrhizobium	98.32
30.	WC34.2a2	Lotononis polycephala	Rhizobium sp.	99.80
31.	WC35.2d (1)	Lotononis polycephala	Bradyrhizobium	100.00
32	WC35.2d (2)	Lotononid polycephala	Bradyrhizobium	94.57
33.	WC35.2a (1)	Lotononis Polycephala	Bradyrhizobium	97.46
34.	WC35.2a (2)	Lotononis polycephala	Bradyrhizobium	97.45
36.	WC35.2c	Lotononis polycephala	Bradyrhizobium	99.03
37.	WC37.2b	Lotononis delicatula	Didn't amplify	-
38.	WC37.2c	Lotononis delicatula	Didn't amplify	-

Table 4.1. The 16S rRNA representative results from Blastn searches

Table 4	.1 . Continued			
	Isolate	Hosts	16S rRNA BLST	Identity %
			results	
40.	WC37.3a	Lotononis	Mesorhizobium	98.30
		branchyantha		
41.	WC37.3b	Lotononis	Mesorhizobium	88.70
		branchyantha		
42.	WC37.3c	Lotononis	Didn't amplify	-
		branchyantha		
43.	WC37.4a	Lotononis rostrata spp	Mesorhizobium	97.46
		namaquensis		
44.	WC35.1d	Crotalaria	Mesorhizobium	82.85
		namaquensis		
45.	SA 44-235c	Crotalaria spp.	Rhizobium sp.	99.19
46.	SA 44-25ca	Crotalaria spp.	Ochrobatrum	99.29
	(1)			
47.	SA 44-2b1	Cotalaria spp.	Sinorhizobium	85.60
	(1)			
48.	SA 44-25ca	Crotalaria spp.	Ochrobatrum	95.20
	(2)			
49.	SA 44-2b2	Crotalaria spp.	Bradyrhizobium	92.49
	(1)			
50.	SA 44-2b2	Crotalaria spp.	Bradyrhizobium	91.18
	(2)			
51.	SA 44-2b2	Crotalaria spp.	Agrobacterium	90.03
	(3)			
52.	WC34.3a	Lotononis spp.	Mesorhizobium	82.85
53.	WC34 c	Lotononis spp	Bradyrhizobium	90.45
54.	SA 44-2b	Crotalaria spp.	Bradyrhizobium	95.96
55.	SA53-1b	Crotalaria lotoides	Bradyrhizobium	92.98
56.	SA53-1a	Crotalaria lotoides	Methylobacterium	98.98
57.	SA53-1c (1)	Crotalaria lotoides	Methylobacterium	98.87
58.	SA53-1c (2)	Crotalaria lotoides	Bradyrhizobium	91.18
59.	SA53-2b1	Crotalaria lotoides	Mesorhizobium	91.30
60.	SA53-2b3	Crotalaria lotoides	Mesorhizobium	93.23
61.	WC35.1a	Crotalaria	Bradyrhizobium	94.79
		namaquensis		
62.	SA53 2b3/d3	Crotalaria lotoides	Bradyrhizobium	94.79
63.	XCT 8	Listia bainesii	Methylobacterium	97.71
64.	XCT 9	Listia bainesii	Methylobacterium	97.49

	Isolate	Hosts	16S rRNA BLST	Identity %
			results	
65.	XCT 10	Listia bainesii	Methylobacterium	96.50
66.	XCT 12	Listia bainesii	Methylobacterium	99.25
67.	XCT 13	Listia bainesii	Methylobacterium	99.75
68.	XCT 14	Listia bainesii	Methylobacterium	100.00
69.	XCT 16	Listia bainesii	Methylobacterium	98.97
70.	XCT 17	Listia bainesii	Methylobacterium	99.87
71.	Crot 99	Crotalaria lotoides	Methylobacterium	99.76
72.	Crot 100	Crotalaria lotoides	Methylobacterium	100.00
73.	Crot 102	Crotalaria lotoides	Methylobacterium	92.26
74.	Crot 103	Crotalaria lotoides	Methylobacterium	99.29
75.	Crot 104	Crotalaria lotoides	Methylobacterium	97.78
76.	Crot 214	Crotalaria	Methylobacterium	99.03
		sphaerocarpa		
77.	Crot 215	Crotalaria	Methylobacterium	98.30
		sphaerocarpa		
78.	Crot 216	Crotalaria	Methylobacterium	99.52
		sphaerocarpa		
79.	Crot 220	Crotalaria	Methylobacterium	96.54
		sphaerocarpa		
80.	Crot 222	Crotalaria	Methylobacterium	98.76
		sphaerocarpa		
81.	Crot 223	Crotalaria	Methylobacterium	99.76
		sphaerocarpa		
82.	Crot 224	Crotalaria	Methylobacterium	97.96
		sphaerocarpa		
83.	WSM 3032	Listia solitudinis	Methylobacterium	100.00
84.	WSM 3950	Listia bainesii	Methylobacterium	99.76
85.	WSM 3960	Listia bainessi	Methylobacterium	99.78
86.	WSM 3962	Listia bainesii	Methylobacterium	100.00
87.	WSM 2598	Listia bainesii	Methylobacterium	99.47
88.	WSM 3674	Listia bainesii	Microvirga	99.76
89.	WSM 3686	Listia bainesii	Microvirga	99.71
90.	WSM 2799	Listia listii	Methylobacterium	99.43
91.	WSM 3966	Listia bainesii	Methylobacterium	96.75
92.	WSM 2693		Didn't amplify	-

Table 4.1. continued.

Table 4.2: Pairwise comparisons of genomic Average Nucleotide Identity (gANI) values^a of two sequenced strains currently ascribed to the genus *Methylobacterium* and used as reference strains in this study, as well as the *Methylobacterium* sp. WSM 2598. Cut-off value for species delineation is 96.5%.

Genome	<i>M</i> . sp4_46	WSM 2598	M. nodulans
<i>M</i> . sp 4_46	100	98,79	83,3
WSM 2598	98,79	100	83,5
M. nodulans	83,3	83,5	100

^agANI values were calculated in pairwise comparison using the Jspecies software.

Taslatas	Temperature									
Isolates	10 ° C	25 ° C	37 ° C	40 ° C	50 ° C					
Crot 99	No growth	Full growth	Slight growth	Growth	No growth					
Crot 100	No growth	Growth	Full growth	Full growth	No growth					
Crot 102	No growth	Full growth	Full growth	Full growth	No growth					
Crot 103	No growth	Growth	Growth	Growth	No growth					
Crot 104	No growth	Growth	Growth	Growth	No growth					
Crot 214	No growth	Full growth	Growth	Slight growth	No growth					
Crot 215	No growth	Full growth	Full growth	Slight growth	No growth					
Crot 216	No growth	Slight growth	Slight growth	Slight growth	No growth					
Crot 220	No growth	Full growth	Full growth	Full growth	No growth					
Crot 222	No growth	Slight growth	Full growth	Growth	No growth					
Crot 223	No growth	Full growth	Full growth	Growth	No growth					
Crot 224	No growth	Full growth	Full growth	Slight growth	No growth					
WSM 3032	No growth	Slight growth	Growth	Growth	Slight growth					
WSM 3950	No growth	Full growth	Full growth	Slight growth	No growth					
WSM 3960	No growth	Full growth	Full growth	Growth	No growth					
WSM 3962	No growth	Full growth	Growth	Slight growth	Slight growth					
WSM 2598	No growth	Full growth	Full growth	Full growth	No growth					
WSM 2799	No growth	Slight growth	Growth	Growth	Slight growth					
WSM3966	No growth	Slight growth	Growth	Slight growth	No growth					
XCT 8	No growth	Growth	Slight growth	Slight growth	No growth					
XCT 9	No growth	Growth	Slight growth	Slight growth	No growth					
XCT 10	No growth	Full growth	Growth	Slight growth	No growth					
XCT 12	Slight growth	Full growth	Full growth	Full growth	No growth					
XCT 13	No growth	Full growth	Full growth	Full growth	No growth					
XCT 14	No growth	Growth	Growth	Growth	No growth					
XCT 16	No growth	Full growth	Growth	Growth	No growth					
XCT 17	No growth	Full growth	Full growth	Full growth	No growth					
SA53-1a	No growth	Slight growth	No growth	No growth	No growth					
SA53-1c	No growth	Full growth	Growth	Growth	No growth					

 Table: 4.3. Temperature test results on Yeast Mannitol agar.

Isolatos	Temperatures (R2A agar)									
Isolates	10 ° C	25 ° C	37 ° C	40 ° C	50 ° C					
Crot 99	No growth	Full growth	Full growth	Growth	No growth					
Crot 100	No growth	Growth	Full growth	Growth	No growth					
Crot 102	No growth	Growth	Full growth	Growth	No growth					
Crot 103	No growth	Growth	Full growth	Slight growth	No growth					
Crot 104	No growth	Full growth	Full growth	Growth	No growth					
Crot 214	No growth	Full growth	Full growth	Slight growth	No growth					
Crot 215	Slight growth	Growth	Full growth	Growth	No growth					
Crot 216	No growth	Growth	Full growth	Slight growth	No growth					
Crot 220	No growth	Growth	Full growth	Slight growth	No growth					
Crot 222	No growth	Full growth	Full growth	Growth	No growth					
Crot 223	No growth	Full growth	Full growth	Growth	No growth					
Crot 224	No growth	Full growth	Full growth	Growth	No growth					
WSM 3032	No growth	Full growth	Full growth	Slight growth	No growth					
WSM 3950	No growth	Full growth	Full growth	Growth	No growth					
WSM 3960	No growth	Full growth	Full growth	Full growth	No growth					
WSM 3962	No growth	Growth	Full growth	Growth	No growth					
WSM 2598	No growth	Full growth	Full growth	Slight growth	No growth					
WSM 2799	Growth	Full growth	Full growth	Full growth	No growth					
WSM3966	No growth	Full growth	Full growth	Growth	No growth					
XCT 8	Slight growth	Full growth	Full growth	Growth	No growth					
XCT 9	No growth	Growth	Full growth	Growth	No growth					
XCT 10	Slight growth	Full growth	Full growth	Growth	No growth					
XCT 12	Slight growth	Full growth	Full growth	Growth	No growth					
XCT 13	Growth	Full growth	Full growth	Growth	No growth					
XCT 14	Slight growth	Full growth	Full growth	Growth	No growth					
XCT 16	Slight growth	Full growth	Full growth	Growth	No growth					
XCT 17	Slight growth	Full growth	Full growth	Growth	No growth					
SA53-1a	No growth	No growth	Full growth	Growth	No growth					
SA53-1c	Slight growth	Growth	Full growth	Growth	No growth					

 Table: 4.4: Temperature test results on R2A agar

Isolates	YMA (pH)									
Isolates	3	5	8	10						
Crot 99	0	3	3	3						
Crot 100	0	3	3	3						
Crot 102	0	0	5	3						
Crot 103	0	0	3	3						
Crot 104	0	0	3	2						
Crot 214	0	0	5	3						
Crot 215	0	3	5	5						
Crot 216	0	5	5	5						
Crot 220	0	3	5	5						
Crot 222	0	3	3	3						
Crot 223	0	3	5	5						
Crot 224	0	0	3	3						
WSM 3032	0	3	5	5						
WSM 3950	0	3	3	2						
WSM 3960	0	3	5	5						
WSM 3962	0	3	3	2						
WSM 2598	0	5	5	3						
WSM 2799	0	5	5	3						
WSM3966	0	3	3	4						
XCT 8	0	1	3	2						
XCT 9	0	0	4	5						
XCT 10	0	3	5	5						
XCT 12	0	0	5	5						
XCT 13	0	0	5	5						
XCT 14	0	4	5	5						
XCT 16	0	5	5	5						
XCT 17	0	0	5	3						
SA53-1a	0	3	5	5						
SA53-1c	0	3	3	3						

Table 4.5: pH test results on Yeast Mannitol broth. Growth = cloudy on a scale of 1-5

Isolates	YMA (pH)								
1301atC3	3	5	8	10					
Crot 99	0	5	5	5					
Crot 100	0	5	5	3					
Crot 102	0	5	5	5					
Crot 103	0	5	5	5					
Crot 104	0	3	5	3					
Crot 214	0	3	5	3					
Crot 215	0	5	5	3					
Crot 216	0	5	5	3					
Crot 220	0	5	5	5					
Crot 222	0	5	5	5					
Crot 223	0	3	5	5					
Crot 224	0	3	5	5					
WSM 3032	0	3	5	5					
WSM 3950	0	5	5	5					
WSM 3960	0	3	5	5					
WSM 3962	0	5	5	5					
WSM 2598	0	5	5	5					
WSM 2799	0	5	5	5					
WSM3966	0	5	5	5					
XCT 8	0	5	3	5					
XCT 9	0	5	3	5					
XCT 10	0	5	5	5					
XCT 12	0	5	5	5					
XCT 13	0	5	5	5					
XCT 14	0	5	5	5					
XCT 16	0	5	5	5					
XCT 17	0	3	5	5					
SA53-1a	0	5	5	5					
SA53-1c	0	5	5	5					

Table 4.6: pH test results on R2A broth. Growth = cloudy on a scale of 1-5

T 1 4	NaCl concentration								
Isolates	0 % (w/v)	1 % (w/v)	2 % (w/v)	3 % (w/v)	4 % (w/v)	5 % (w/v)			
Crot 99	Full growth	Full growth	Full growth	Growth	Growth	Slight			
						growth			
Crot 100	Full growth	Growth	Growth	Slight	Slight	No growth			
				growth	growth				
Crot 102	Full growth	Full growth	Full growth	Growth	Slight	Slight			
					growth	growth			
Crot 103	Full growth	Full growth	Full growth	Slight	No growth	No growth			
				growth					
Crot 104	Full growth	Full growth	Growth	Growth	Slight	Slight			
					growth	growth			
Crot 214	Full growth	Full growth	Full growth	Full growth	Growth	Slight			
						growth			
Crot 215	Full growth	Full growth	Growth	Full growth	Growth	Growth			
Crot 216	Full growth	Growth	Growth	No growth	No growth	No growth			
Crot 220	Full growth	Full growth	Growth	Growth	Slight	No growth			
					growth				
Crot 222	Full growth	Slight	Slight	Slight	No growth	No growth			
		growth	growth	growth					
Crot 223	Full growth	Full growth	Growth	Growth	Slight	No growth			
					growth				
Crot 224	Full growth	Full growth	Slight	Growth	Slight	Growth			
			growth		growth				
WSM 3032	Full growth	Slight	Slight	No growth	Slight	No growth			
		growth	growth		growth				
WSM 3950	Full growth	Growth	Slight	Slight	Slight	No growth			
			growth	growth	growth				
WSM 3960	Full growth	Growth	Slight	No growth	No growth	No growth			
			growth						
WSM 3962	Full growth	Slight	Slight	No growth	No growth	No growth			
		growth	growth						
WSM 2598	Full growth	Full growth	Full growth	Growth	Slight	No growth			
					growth				
WSM 2799	Full growth	Full growth	Full growth	Growth	Growth	Growth			
WSM 3966	Full growth	Growth	Slight	Slight	Slight	Slight			
			growth	growth	growth	growth			

Isolatos		NaCl concentration											
Isolates0 % (w/v)1 % (w/v)XCT 8Full growthSlight growthXCT 9Full growthGrowthXCT 10Full growthFull growthXCT 12Full growthFull growthXCT 13Full growthFull growthXCT 14Full growthFull growthXCT 16Full growthFull growthXCT 17Full growthFull growthXCT 18Full growthFull growthXCT 19Full growthFull growthXCT 13Full growthFull growthXCT 14Full growthFull growthXCT 16Full growthFull growthXCT 17Full growthSlight growthSA53-1aFull growthSlight growthSA53-1cFull growthFull growth	2 % (w/v)	3 % (w/v)	4 % (w/v)	5 % (w/v)									
XCT 8	Full growth	Slight	Slight	Growth	No growth	No growth							
		growth	growth										
XCT 9	Full growth	Growth	Slight	Slight	Slight	No growth							
			growth	growth	growth								
XCT 10	Full growth	Full growth	Full growth	Growth	Growth	Growth							
XCT 12	Full growth	Full growth	Growth	Growth	Growth	Slight							
						growth							
XCT 13	Full growth	Full growth	Full growth	Growth	Growth	Growth							
XCT 14	Full growth	Full growth	Growth	Growth	Growth	Growth							
XCT 16	Full growth	Full growth	Growth	Growth	Growth	Growth							
XCT 17	Full growth	Full growth	Growth	No growth	No growth	No growth							
SA53-1a	Full growth	Slight	No growth	No growth	No growth	No growth							
		growth											
SA53-1c	Full growth	Full growth	Full growth	Growth	Growth	Slight							
						growth							

Table 4.7 continued.

_

Table 4.8: NaCl tolerance test using R2A agar.

Isolates	NaCl concentration R2A agar										
	0 % (w/v)	1 % (w/v)	2 % (w/v)	3 % (w/v)	4 % (w/v)	5 % (w/v)					
Crot 99	Full growth	Growth	Slight growth	Slight growth	No growth	No growth					
Crot 100	Full growth	Growth	Slight growth	Slight growth	No growth	No growth					
Crot 102	Full growth	Full growth	Growth	Full growth	Growth	Slight growth					
Crot 103	Full growth	Growth	Slight growth	Slight growth	No growth	No growth					
Crot 104	Full growth	Full growth	Growth	Slight growth	No growth	No growth					
Crot 214	Full growth	Full growth	Slight Slight growth		No growth	No growth					
Crot 215	Full growth	Full growth	Growth	Growth	Growth	Growth					
Crot 216	Full growth	Full growth	Full growth	Full growth	Growth	Growth					
Crot 220	Full growth	Full growth	Full growth	Growth	Slight growth	No growth					
Crot 222	Full growth	Growth	Slight growth	Slight growth	No growth	No growth					
Crot 223	Full growth	Full growth	Full growth	Growth	No growth	No growth					
Crot 224	Full growth	Full growth	Full growth	Full growth	Growth	Slight growth					

Isolates		NaCl concentration R2A agar											
	0 %	1 % (w/v)	2 % (w/v)	3 % (w/v)	4 % (w/v)	5 % (w/v)							
	(w/v)												
WSM 3032	Full	Slight	slight	Slight growth	No growth	No growth							
	growth	growth	growth										
WSM 3950	Full	Slight	Slight	Slight growth	No growth	No growth							
	growth	growth	growth										
WSM 3960	Full	Slight	Slight	No growth	No growth	No growth							
	growth	growth	growth										
WSM 3962	Full	Slight	Slight	Slight growth	No growth	No growth							
	growth	growth	growth		-	-							
WSM 2598	Full	Full growth	Growth	growth	Slight growth	Slight growth							
	growth	-		-									
WSM 2799	Full	Full growth	Full growth	Growth	Growth	Growth							
	growth	-	-										
WSM 3966	Full	Slight	Slight	Slight growth	No growth	No growth							
	growth	growth	growth		-	-							
XCT 8	Full	Slight	Slight	Slight growth	Slight growth	No growth							
	growth	growth	growth			-							
XCT 9	Full	Growth	Full growth	Growth	Growth	Growth							
	growth												
XCT 10	Full	Growth	Full growth	Growth	Growth	Growth							
	growth		-										
XCT 12	Full	Full growth	Full growth	Full growth	Growth	Growth							
	growth	-	-	-									
XCT 13	Full	Full growth	Full growth	Full growth	Growth	Growth							
	growth	-	-	-									
XCT 14	Full	Full growth	Growth	Full growth	Growth	Growth							
	growth	-		-									
XCT 16	Full	Full growth	Growth	Growth	Growth	Slight growth							
	growth	C				0 0							
XCT 17	Full	Full growth	Slight	No growth	Growth	No growth							
	growth	-	growth	-		-							
SA53-1a	Full	Full growth	Growth	Growth	Slight growth	Growth							
	growth	-											
SA53-1c	Full	Full growth	Growth	Slight growth	No growth	No growth							
	growth	-			-	-							

Table 4.8 continued.

Table 4.9: Utilization of carbon compounds by the Methylobacterium representative isolates.

Methylobacterium representative isolates										
	Crot	Crot	Crot	WS	WS	WS	XCT	XCT	SA	SA
Carbon source/Water	99	100	224	Μ	Μ	Μ	8	17	53-1a	53-10
				2598	3966	3960				
Water	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
A-Cyclodextrin	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Dextrin	+	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	+
Glycogen	+	-	-	-	+	+	-	-	+	+
Tween 40	+	-	-	+	+	+	+	-	+	+
Tween 80	+	+	-	+	+	+	+	-	+	+
N-Acetyl-D-Glucosamine	-	-	-	+	+	+	-	-	+	+
Adonitol	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
L-Arabinose	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	-
D-Arabitol	-	-	-	-	+	+	-	-	+	+
D-Cellobiose	-	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-
i-Erythritol	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	-
D-Fructose	-	+	-	+	+	-	-	-	+	+
L-Fucose	-	-	-	+	+	-	+	+	+	+

Table 4.9 continued.

Carbon source/Water	Crot	Crot	Crot	WS	WS	WS	XCT	ХСТ	SA	SA
	99	100	224	Μ	Μ	Μ	8	17	53-1a	53-1c
				2598	3966	3960				
D-Galactose	-	-	-	+	+		+	+	+	-
Gentibiose	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
A-D-Glucose	+	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
m-Inositol	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
A-D-Lactose	-	-	-	+	+	+	-	-	+	+
Lactulose	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Maltose	+	-	-	-	+	-	+	+	+	+
D-Mannitol	+	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
D-Mannose	+	-	-	+	+	-	+	+	+	-
D-Melibiose	+	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	+	-
B-Methyl-D-Glucoside	-	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	+	+
D-Psicose	+	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	-
D-Raffinose	+	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
L-Rhamnose	-	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
D-Sorbitol	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Sucrose	+	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
D-Trehalose	-	-	-	+	+	+	-	-	+	+

Table 4.9 continued.

Carbon source/Water	Crot	Crot	Crot	WS	WS	WS	XCT	XCT	SA	SA
	99	100	224	Μ	Μ	Μ	8	17	53-1a	53-1c
				2598	3966	3960				
Turanose	+	-	-	+	+	-	+	+	+	+
Xylitol	+	-	-	-	+	+	-	-	+	+
Pyruvic Acid Methyl Ester	+	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Succinic Acid Mono-Methyl	+	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	+
Ester										
Acetic Acid	+	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	-	-
Cis-Aconitic Acid	+	+	+	-	-	+	+	+	+	+
Citric Acid	+	+	+	-	-	-	+	+	+	-
Formic Acid	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	+
D-Galactonic Acid Lactone	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
D-Galacturonic Acid	+	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-
D-Gluconic Acid	+	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Glucosamic Acid	+	+	-	-	-	+	-	-	+	-
D-Glucuronic Acid	+	+	-	+	+	-	+	-	+	-
A-Hydroxybutyric Acid	+	+	-	+	+	+	-	+	+	+
B-Hydroxybutyric Acid	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Y-Hydroxybutyric Acid	+	+	-	+	+	-	+	+	+	+

Carbon source/Water	Crot	Crot	Crot	WS	WS	WS	XCT	XCT	SA	SA
	99	100	224	Μ	Μ	Μ	8	17	53-1a	53-1c
				2598	3966	3960				
p-Hydroxyphenlyacetic Acid	+									
Itaconic Acid	+	+	-	+	+	-	-	-	-	+
A-Ketoglutaric Acid	+	+	-	-	+	-	-	+	+	-
A-Ketovaleric Acid	+	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	-	+
D, L-Lactic Acid	+	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-
Malonic Acid	+	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Propionic Acid	+	+	-	+	+	-	+	-	-	+
Quinic Acid	+	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
D-Saccharic Acid	+	+	-	+	+	-	+	-	-	+
Sebacic Acid	+	+	-	+	+	+	-	-	+	+
Succinic Acid	-	+	+	+	+	+	-	-	-	+
Bromosuccinic Acid	+	+	-	+	+	-	+	+	-	+
Succinamic Acid	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	+
Glucuronamide	+	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	+
L-Alaninamide	+	-	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	-
D-Alanine	+	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
L-alanine	+	-	-	+	+	+	-	-	-	-

Carbon source/Water Crot Crot WS WS WS XCT XCT SA SA Crot 99 Μ 8 100 224 Μ \mathbf{M} 17 53-1a 53-1c 2598 3966 3960 L-Alanyl-Glycine + + + + + + + ---L-Asparagine + + +++ +++--**L-Aspartic Acid** ++ + + -+ ++-+L-Glutamic Acid ++ +++ ++ ++-**Glycyl-L-Aspartic Acid** + + + + + +---+**Glycyl-L-Glutamic Acid** ++ + +------**L-Histidine** + ++ + --+---Hydroxy-L-Proline + + ++ + + ---L-Leucine -----+---**L-Ornithine** + + + ++----L-Phenylalanine + + + ++ -+ + --**L-Proline** ++ +-+ +-++-L-Pyroglutamic Acid + + + + + ++++-**D-Serine** + + + + + + + -_

Table 4.9 continued.

Carbon source/Water	Crot	Crot	Crot	WS	WS	WS	XCT	XCT	SA	SA
	99	100	224	Μ	Μ	Μ	8	17	53-1a	53-1c
				2598	3966	3960				
L-Serine	+	+	-	+	+	-	+	-	-	+
L-Threonine	+	-	-	+	+	-	+	+	+	+
D, L-Carnitine	+	-	-	+	+	+	-	-	+	-
Y-Aminobutyric Acid	+	-	-	+	+	+	-	-	+	+
Urocanic Acid	+	-	-	-	-	+	-	+	+	+
Inosine	+	+	+	+	+	-	-	-	-	+
Uridine	+	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Thymidine	+	+	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Phenylethylamine	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Putrescine	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
2-Aminoethanol	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
2,3-Butanediol	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+
Glycerol	+	-	-	+	+	+	-	-	-	+
D, L, A-Glycerol Phosphate	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	+
A-D-Glucose-1-Phosphate	+	-	-	+	+	+	-	-	-	-
D-Glucose-6-Phosphate	+	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	-
D-Glucose-6-Phosphate										

Р